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GENERAL INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MIGEER

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLHEE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 Change
FiB T &
Revenue g 15,588,143 19,287,434 -19.2%
Gross profit ESY 1,322,293 1,484,972 -11.0%
Profit for the year attributable to KR A A A JE(RANEZ 5 F
owners of the Company 262,799 318,233 -17.4%
EBITDA EITE R E RS 2,057,669 2,354,462 -12.6%
EPS (HK cents) FRAN GBI
— Basic — EK 8.31 9.77 -14.9%
DPS (HK cents) FARAE (GBI
— Interim — R Hf 5 5 -%
— Final — KH 5 5 -%
— Full Year — 2F 10 10 -%
The final dividend of 5 HK cents per share (2022: 5 HK cents) has ZEZE @ KKK ESRBII(ZE—_—4F : 5

been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MIGEER

Basic earnings per share, dividends per share and dividend payout ratio

BREFBRF - SRBRERIKSELR

HK cents
Bl
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50 120
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[ EPSEREZEF  — Dividend payout ratio J& & .t &

B DPS ERE A

Analysis of EBITDA, gross, operating and net profit margins (%)
HENERBHATEER  BREX - KERNBEELURATZED (%)

15 14.8

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Net profit margin attributable

Gross profit margin to the owners of the Company

R ARARE AR AELETIE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MIGEER

Turnover by geographical segments

iR B D 2 EER

10.6% OTHERS 8.4.% OTHERS
2.2% JAPAN
Hit o B Hih
6.6% HONG KONG
&

53% EUROPE .

2% JAPAN
A7

8.9% d
HONG KONG
6.1 % EUROPE

2022

BUA 7.4%
SOUTH KOREA
7.4% 65% i 70.1%
SOUTH KOREA CHINA CHINA
i FRE R

Turnover by operating segments
REE DB D 2 EER

14.2 Y% Electronic consumer products (Note 2)

B HBEERME2)

18.7 % Electronic consumer products (Note 2)

BEPHBRERHE2)

85.8% 81.3%

LCD products (Note 1) LCD products (Note 1)
RS ER e E M (HTEE 1) R BN E M (IR 1)

Note 1: LCD products — manufacture and distribution of LCD products and touch panel products
M1 RRBBERSER — NERSHASRBRETRSNERNBIZERER

Note 2: Electronic consumer products — manufacture and distribution of electronic consumer products such as compact camera module
("CCM"), fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products and electrical devices
M2 EFHBEEM — BUERSHEBFHEER(PINMEEREE (HEEREAE]) - BAEMNERE  AARBRER R
BFRMH)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MERHEE

RESULTS xin

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=T-BHLEFE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—T-NE T _TE —T-—fF — - —E-=E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FET THET THT
Revenue Wz 22,532,499 22,171,710 22,543,455 19,287,434 15,588,143
Gross profit EF 1,825,411 2,048,801 2,612,976 1,484,972 1,322,293
Finance costs B8 (419,129) (380,025) (341,225) (354,558) (389,443)
Profit before tax FRTEF 736,857 738,692 1,595,850 376,565 249,385
Income tax expense FisRimY (128,693) (139,919) (165,196) (57,364) (88,949)
Profit for the year AEEREF 608,164 598,773 1,430,654 319,201 160,436
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company RNBHEEA 562,456 502,287 1,377,998 318,233 262,799
Non-controlling interests RS 45,708 96,486 52,656 968 (102,363)
608,164 598,773 1,430,654 319,201 160,436
Earnings per share BREF
Basic LN
(HK cents per share) (R 17.10 15.27 41.89 9.77 8.31
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
At 31 December
R+t=BA=+—-H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NFE —E-F —=- —E- —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FEx FEx THET
Non-current assets ERBEE 13,978,778 15,390,078 18,653,459 17,226,793 15,708,771
Current assets MEEE 11,007,458 11,147,378 11,079,885 9,264,330 8,796,863
Total assets EEEE 24,986,236 26,637,456 29,733,344 26,491,123 24,505,634
Bank and other borrowings #7417 REffE 5 5,822,616 5,512,049 6,116,506 7,265,527 6,675,436
Bonds payable [EREH 373,731 400,596 371,996 - =
Other liabilities HibBE 9,782,190 10,149,425 11,585,333 8,888,693 8,009,435
Total liabilities BERE 15,978,537 16,062,070 18,073,835 16,154,220 14,684,871
Net assets EEFE 9,007,699 10,475,386 11,659,509 10,336,903 9,820,763
Equity attributable to owners  ZAA B A AJEIGTER
of the Company 8,056,021 9,371,885 11,282,383 9,985,685 9,598,086
Non-controlling interests = 951,678 1,103,501 377,126 351,218 222,677
Total equity eyt 9,007,699 10,475,386 11,659,509 10,336,903 9,820,763
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERREE

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) have been influenced as major
consumer markets around the globe remained challenged by
general economic downturn and conservative demand, posing
significant impacts on product prices of the smartphone and non-
smartphone display panel industry in 2023. The Group's revenue of
approximately HK$15.59 billion in 2023 was approximately 19.2%
lower than that in 2022, mainly due to the decrease in revenue
from the smartphone business. The Group's gross profit margin of
approximately 8.5% was approximately 0.8% higher than that in
2022. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
decreased by approximately 17.4% to HK$263 million in 2023
when compared to 2022.

Truly (Renshou) High-end Display Technology Limited* (/2% (1=5)
= R BHE A BR A A]) (“Truly RS”), an associate of the Group
located in Sichuan in which it holds 17.14% equity interest, is a
fifth generation TFT-LCD production plant, which has entered into
mass production in 2021. It operated smoothly during the year,
with the capacity utilization rate further increased to over 90%,
which continued to enhance the Group’s competitiveness in the
TFT-LCD panel market.

Looking ahead to 2024, the global economic environment remains
uncertain and the competitive environment is full of challenges.
We will continue to focus on display module products, including
the display business such as smartphones, smart wearables,
automotive and professional displays (industrial, medical, smart
home and Internet of Things), and the non-display business such as
printed circuit board and consumer electronic products, and
maintain in-depth interaction and communication with our
customers and partner brands as well as investing in human
resources and technology research and development for various
businesses to enhance our product design and manufacturing
capabilities, with a view to meeting our customers’ needs. The
management will continue to tighten our control over costs and
expenses in order to enhance the competitiveness of the Group’s
products. With a significant increase in sales in the first two
months of 2024 as compared to that of 2023, the management is
confident that the Group will achieve steady growth in results in
2024.
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERREE

The management would like to express its appreciation to the
Group’'s bankers and staff for their continuing support and
outstanding contribution. Additionally, the management wishes to
extend its gratitude for customers, suppliers and other business
partners.

Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

The Group is one of the largest manufacturers of smartphone
component parts in the People Republic of China (“PRC") and
worldwide top-level automotive display suppliers. The Group is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of liquid crystal
display products including touch panel products and electronic
consumer products including compact camera module, fingerprint
identification modules, personal health care products and electrical
devices.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue of 2023 recorded a decrease by 19.2% amounting to
approximately HK$15.59 billion (2022: HK$19.29 billion), which was
mainly attributable to the significant decrease in smartphone
related sales in the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Year") when compared to 2022.

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
decreased to approximately HK$263 million (2022: approximately
HK$318 million) by approximately 17.4%. Basic earnings per share
for the year decreased to 8.31 HK cents from 9.77 HK cents in
2022. It was mainly due to (i) the decrease of revenue for the year
by approximately HK$3,699 million; (ii) the decrease of other
income for the year by approximately HK$125 million; and (iii) the
increase of share of loss by non-controlling interests to
approximately HK$103 million.

The gross profit margin for the year increased to approximately
8.5% (2022: 7.7%) and net profit margin for the year attributable to
owners of the Company increased to 1.7% (2022: 1.6%). Increase
in gross profit margin was mainly due to the decrease of revenue
from smartphone related products, which have lower gross profit
margin.

The Group’s LCD business including touch products was about
86% of the Group revenue in 2023 (2022: 81%). Other businesses
of the Group including the sales of compact camera modules,
fingerprint identification products and printed circuit board were
14% of the Group's revenue in 2023 (2022: 19%).

The Group continued to put resources in the Group's research and

development by spending around HK$658 million in 2023 (2022:
HK$796 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEEWRE S

Recognitions

During the year, the Group received numerous recognitions from
customers and industrial associates, major recognitions
were shown as follows: Truly Opto-Electronics Limited* ({F3¢ &
% 17 A& R A &), a PRC subsidiary, was named to the list of “Top
Guangdong 500 Manufacturing Companies” by Guangdong
Manufacturers Association, ranking 52th in 2023. Truly
Semiconductors Limited* ({5 % & 8GR 2 7)), a PRC subsidiary,
was named to the list of “Top Guangdong 500 Manufacturing
Companies” by Guangdong Manufacturers Association, ranking
106th in 2023. Truly (Huizhou) Smart Display Limited* (=% (/)
e R AR A A]) was named to the list of “Top Guangdong 500
Manufacturing Companies” by Guangdong Manufacturers
Association, ranking 245th in 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company's executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance focuses on the sales of
different types of products. Inter-segment sales are charged at
prevailing market rates. Thus the Group is currently organised into
two operating segments which are sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products. The information for each operating
segment is as follows:

LCD — manufacture and distribution of LCD products
products and touch panel products

Electronic — manufacture and distribution of electronic
consumer consumer products such as compact camera
products module, fingerprint identification modules,

personal health care products and electrical
devices

&
i
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

DEWERFEE
AEEREERBEDEEDNREREEDN

LI

=3

BE_FT-=F+"A=+—HLEE

Electronic
consumer Segment
LCD products products total Eliminations  Consolidated
HRE ET
BTRER HEER PEAE i &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER THT TEx TER
REVENUE 6
External sales b 13,382,037 2,206,106 15,588,143 - 15,588,143
Inter-segment sales PEREE - 597,570 597,570 (597,570) -
13,382,037 2,803,676 16,185,713 (597,570) 15,588,143
RESULT b4 |
Segment result PEEE 742,205 (53,980) 688,225 (17,578) 670,647
Finance costs HBER (389,443)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERNEEE (53,424)
Share of results of an associate HME—BHERREE 46,802
Unallocated expenses FRERY (24,975)
Unallocated other gains and losses ~ ARAELH I R EE (222)
Profit before tax BATRF 249,385
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEEWRE S

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 -_—_F+-_A=1+—HIFE
Electronic
consumer Segment
LCD products products total Eliminations Consolidated
L e

BTREM HBEM nieE 8 &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FAT FAT FHEL TAT

REVENUE K&
External sales A 15,693,468 3,593,966 19,287,434 - 19,287,434
Inter-segment sales PEREE - 437,453 437,453 (437,453) -
15,693,468 4,031,419 19,724,887 (437,453) 19,287,434

RESULT ES |
Segment result PER%E 831,891 (78,788) 753,103 (12,828) 740,275
Finance costs BBER (354,558)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREERE -
Share of results of an associate ME—BHERAEE 18,256
Unallocated expenses RARRE (28,985)
Unallocated other gains and losses FOEHMBERER 1577
Profit before tax AR 376,565

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment HEGEMIEROLFARITHEERAN  BHEES
without allocation of central administration costs including %4 - BIEERE - D6 — B A QAT EE RITE
directors’ salaries, finance costs, share of result of an associate and SR T AR FEEEESWZE (BE) - AR E
gain (loss) on fair value changes of derivative financial instruments. ZEZEAEEREUSOREFRLTGERNTE
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker 5%k o

for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

TREI () AREREFAELERD BRI
P et R (i) AR BIRE B E D B IERE
BEMNEFR

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers by location of customers and (ii)
the Group’s non-current assets by location of assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

SNBEF W FRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —E__F —E-=F —E-—fF
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
The PRC s 10,133,308 13,528,016 15,627,827 17,056,286
South Korea B 1,147,860 1,421,249 - -
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (A £&H) 1,387,901 1,272,129 28,604 24,049
Japan HZ 318,483 421,023 - -
Europe BM 948,475 1,024,276 5 6
Vietnam fidea) 98,564 105,538 - -
North America b =M 177,047 272,579 666 665
South America & E M 245,475 278,880 - -
Taiwan =y 75,015 217,099 - -
Others Hit 1,056,015 746,645 - -
15,688,143 19,287,434 15,657,102 17,081,006

Notes: 5T -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in Europe and (i) #tARE BN R A @R P HHEEWETS -
others, no individual countries are material and hence separate disclosure HEREREEEANE WA BHZIEFIHREE
is not required. o

(ii) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at fair value through profit or (ii)
loss, deferred tax assets and rental deposits.

FRBEETEREREUAATEEIRZERE
EEEHREERERS -

Information about major customers

FEFEFEHR

R —FR T _=FHEEAJNELHARE
BRI ATEHEB10% °

No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group in both years of 2022 and 2023.

14 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEEWRE S

Outlook

Looking ahead to 2024, the global economic environment remains
uncertain and the competitive environment is full of challenges.
The management will uphold a cautiously optimistic attitude, and
keep abreast of the development of technological demand and
changes in the supply chain of the display and non-display business
market, as well as pursue the continuous upgrading of R&D
technology and production processes. We will maintain close
communication with customers of various products, provide them
with high-quality products and solutions to achieve steady
expansion and business growth. Meanwhile, we will also continue
to tighten our control over costs and expenses. With a significant
increase in sales in the first two months of 2024 as compared to
that of 2023, the management is confident that the Group will
achieve steady growth in results in 2024.

Proposed Spin-off Update

The Company is considering a possible spin-off and separate listing
(the “Proposed Spinoff”) of Truly Industrial Limited* ({5 %) T2 (il
E) I EBRAE], previously known as EFI ¥ CILE)BRE AR,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, on a stock
exchange in the PRC.

On 18 January 2023, Truly Industrial Limited submitted an
application to the Guangdong Regulatory Bureau of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission for the filing of an application for
pre-listing tutoring. For details, please refer to the Company's
related announcement dated 18 January 2023.

Further announcement will be made by the Company as and when
appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.

RIS

BREZT-NF  2IEERBN M T EE M
HFREMILE  BRERSTEELENEE
BEBIBERRIERREEBMGRINERERE
MEtEEE (L AR REEREAL -
BRMEASEREFPRERYER RESEEE
mEBARE  BREEE BEREKER R
BEMBESKARSL  —EZMFEMAH
ER-_T_—FREFEN EEEHR TN
FEREERRIERFTMED °

BROFER

ARBEZEAIGEDHARAEERZEMB LR
EMIECLR)BOERAR (BIREENTECL
B)ERARDINHE—HEFXZBL LT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the Year was approximately HK$15,588
million, representing a decrease of approximately 19.2% or
approximately HK$3,699 million year-on-year. The decline in
revenue in the Year was mainly attributable to the decrease of
smartphone related products’ revenues caused by reduction of
sales orders by our major PRC smartphone customers.

Other Income

The Group's other income for the Year was approximately HK$110
million, representing a decrease of approximately 53.2% or
approximately HK$125 million when compared with 2022. The
decrease in other income was mainly because the government
subsidies of approximately HK$52 million received in the Year but
approximately HK$169 million in 2022.

Other Gains and Losses

The Group's other gains and losses for the Year was approximately
HK$18 million net other losses (2022: approximately HK$78,000
net other gains). The increase in net other losses in the Year was
mainly due to increasing of net loss on disposal of obsolete
machineries to approximately HK$75 million during the Year from
approximately HK$27 million in 2022.

Reversal of Expected Credit Loss Model, Net

The Group's reversal of impairment losses under expected credit
loss model, net was approximately HK$2 million (2022:
approximately HK$36 million). The decrease in impairment losses
was mainly due to the recovery of certain credit-impaired financial
assets.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses for the Year has
been decreased by approximately 29.9% or approximately HK$137
million to approximately HK$321 million when compared to 2022.
The decrease in distribution and selling expenses in the Year was
mainly due to the decrease of freight rates during the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year decreased by
approximately 23.1% or approximately HK$135 million to
approximately HK$449 million when compared to 2022. The
decrease in administrative expenses was mainly due to the
decrease of redundancy payments, other taxes and salaries and
allowances.
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Finance costs

The Group's finance costs for the Year increased by approximately
9.8% or approximately HK$35 million to approximately HK$389
million when compared to 2022. The increase in finance costs was
mainly attributable to the increase in interest rate of HIBOR in
2023.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate by the Group increased by
approximately HK$29 million when compared to 2022. The
improvement in share of result of an associate was mainly because
the financial results for the Year of the associate, Truly (Renshou)

High-end Display Technology Limited* (1% (=5 ) & m#E REHR A
fR A1), improved when compared to 2022.

Income Tax Expenses

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, three of
the Company’'s PRC subsidiaries were approved as Hi-Tech
Enterprise and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income tax for three
years starting from 2021 or 2023. One of the Company’'s PRC
subsidiaries was eligible to enjoy the Western Region Preferential
Income Tax Policies and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income
tax till 31 December 2030. Accordingly, PRC Enterprise Income Tax
is provided at 15% for the year ended 31 December 2023 for these
four major PRC subsidiaries.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company
decreased to approximately HK$263 million by approximately
17.4% or approximately HK$55 million when compared to 2022. It
was mainly because (i) the decrease of revenue for the Year by
approximately HK$3,699 million; (ii) the decrease of other income
for the Year by approximately HK$125 million; and (iii) the increase
of share of loss by non-controlling interests to approximately
HK$103 million.
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Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals,
Assets and Liabilities

Investment and acquisition of further equity interest in an associate, Truly
(Renshou) High-end Display Technology Limited* (1= %l (1= ) S ik B R
B AR 2AF) (“Truly Renshou”)

Truly Renshou has completed the building construction of the fifth
generation of TFTLCD factory in Renshou in 2018. The full
installation of the machineries was completed in 2020 and full-scale
trial operation commenced in late 2020 and entered mass
production in 2021.

Truly Renshou is accounted for as an associate of the Group during
the Year because the Group has significant influence over Truly
Renshou by virtue of the substantial voting right of 67.1% granted
to the Group in the first ten years since the incorporation of Truly
Renshou in 2017. Thus, the results, assets and liabilities of Truly
Renshou is incorporated in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements using equity method of accounting.

In December 2022, the Group acquired additional 10% equity
interest from another shareholder in Truly Renshou at a cash
consideration of RMB845,440,000, of which RMB300,000,000
(equivalent to HK$348,000,000) was settled in December 2022 and
the remaining consideration of RMB545,440,000 (equivalent to
HK$601,621,000) carrying interest at 3.3% per annum have been
settled during the year ended 31 December 2023. There is no
change of the terms of the Articles of Association of Truly Renshou
including the voting rights of the shareholders and Truly Renshou
remains as an associate of the Group.

Update on Major Transaction Formation of the AMOLED JV Company

On 14 July 2017, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited ({2 F| &
FAEBRAT]), a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
AMOLED JV agreement in relation to the formation of the
AMOLED JV Company in Renshou County, Meishan City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC as the project company for the AMOLED
Project. The total investment of the AMOLED JV Company will be
RMB27,900 million and production facilities for the sixth generation
of AMOLED will be established. The Group will contribute
RMB2,000 million for 13.3% equity interest. For detail of it, please
refer to the announcement of the Company, Major Transaction
Formation of the AMOLED JV Company, dated 14 July 2017.
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The Company is in discussion with other parties to the AMOLED
JV agreement regarding the shareholders agreement. There is no
long stop date stipulated in the AMOLED JV Agreement, and the
AMOLED JV Agreement remains valid as at the date hereof. For
detail of it, please refer to the announcement of the Company,
Update in Relation to A Major Transaction for the Formation of the
AMOLED JV Company, dated 20 December 2022.

Further announcements will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's assets decreased by approximately HK$1,985 million
and liabilities decreased by approximately HK$1,469 million during
the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding lease liabilities, bank and
other borrowings, net of restricted bank deposits, cash and bank
balances, were approximately HK$5,296 million (2022:
approximately HK$5,709 million). It decreased by approximately
7.24% or HK$413 million when compared to these net borrowings
as at 31 December 2022. These borrowings bear interest at
prevailing market rate and their maturity profiles are shown in the
financial statements. For non-current portion of these borrowings
were matured within 5 years.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$4,133 million (as at 31 December 2022, net
current liabilities of approximately HK$4,753 million) and its current
ratio increased to 0.68 times as at 31 December 2023 from 0.66
times as at 31 December 2022. The major reason for the decrease
in net current liabilities position as at 31 December 2023 was
because the Group has reduced current liabilities during the Year.
The management would continue to improve the Group's net
current liabilities position.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had restricted bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents approximately HK$1,385 million together
with adequate unutilized banking facilities. The Group's working
capital is mainly financed by internal cash flow generated from its
operation and banking facilities granted by financial institutions. The
gearing ratio based on total interest bearing debts, net of restricted
bank deposits, cash and bank balances was approximately 55%,
which has decreased from 57% at 31 December 2022.
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Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no assets pledged.

Employee and Remuneration

Around 14,800 workers and staff are currently employed in
factories of the Company in the PRC and around 50 personnel in
the Group’s Hong Kong office. Total staff costs for 2023 were
approximately HK$1,559 million. The employees are remunerated
with basic salary, bonus and other benefits in kind with reference
to industry practice and their individual performance.

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitment of around HK$346 million in
respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment was
contracted for but not provided as at 31 December 2023.

Contingent Liabilities

We had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates will be considered to
hedge, if any.

OTHER INFORMATION
Dividends

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 5 HK
cents (2022: 5 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31
December 2023, to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 20 May 2024, Monday. It is expected that
the final dividend payments will be made to shareholders on 31
May 2024, Friday, subject to the Company's shareholders’ approval
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 13 May 2024.

The interim dividends in aggregate of 5 HK cents per share (2022:
5 HK cents) were paid in 2023 to shareholders on the register of
member of the Company at the close of business on 14 November

2023 based on 3,161,105,398 ordinary shares in issue.

The total dividend payout ratio for the year was about 120%.
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Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024
Annual General Meeting ("AGM"), the Register of Members will
be closed from 8 May 2024, \Wednesday to 13 May 2024, Monday,
during the period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 7 May 2024, Tuesday.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed on 20 May
2024, Monday during which day no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at the above address for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17 May 2024.

Customers and suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 32% of the total sales of the Group
and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 25% of the total purchases of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our largest customer
accounted for approximately 9% of the total sales of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our largest supplier
accounted for approximately 18% of the total purchases of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2023, none of the directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders which to the knowledge of the
directors owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and/or five largest suppliers mentioned in the preceding
paragraph.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are set out as follows:

Mr. Lam Wai Wah, aged 71, is the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. He is the founder of the Group and has
over 40 years of experience in the electronics industry. He is
primarily responsible for the formulation of the Group's overall
strategic planning and business development.

Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, aged 65, is an Executive Director of
the Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. He is
responsible for the Group's operations in respect of internal
controls and risk management, investors' relationship and external
affairs. He joined the Group in 1987. Mr. Wong has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Vital Innovations Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 06133) listed in Hong Kong since 30
December 2020.

Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung, age 53, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He holds a Master of Philosophy Degree and a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree from The University of Hong Kong, and a
Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of London. He is
responsible for overseas sales and marketing affairs (excluding
handheld phone products) of the Group. Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung
has been serving the Group since year 2000 and in the senior
management position for more than 10 years. Before joining the
Group, he worked for the technical position from a multi-national
technology company.

Mr. Song Bei Bei, age 47, is a non-executive director of the
Company, a senior vice president. He is responsible for
government relations and investment project. Mr. Song is also a
director of an associate of the Company. Mr. Song joined the
Group in 2001 as a design engineer in research and development
department and was promoted to project manager and senior
project manager during 2005 to 2013. During the period from 2014
to 2018, Mr. Song was further promoted to a senior management
position of the Group. He graduated from the North China Institute
of Technology with a Bachelor's Degree in Mechatronic
Engineering.
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Mr. Dai Cheng Yun, age 50, is a non-executive Director of the
Company, a vice president of the Group. Mr. Dai has been re-
designated from an executive director to a non-executive director
from 28 August 2023. He is responsible for the Group’s panel
factory operating affairs. Mr. Dai is also a supervisor of a subsidiary
and a vice chairman of an associate of the Company. He graduated
from the Hunan University of Technology (formerly known as
Hunan University of Commerce) with a Bachelor of Marketing
Degree. Mr. Dai joined the Group in 2000 as a team head of
technicians and was promoted to a senior management position
during the period from 2006 to 2018.

Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, aged 66, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group's Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow
member of Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants
and a member of the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants. Mr. Chung has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management and has been the independent non-
executive director, management consultant and company secretary
of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Heung Kai Sing, aged 75, is an independent non-executive
Director and members of the Group’s Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees. He has experience in textile industry.

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin Wilson, age 52, is an independent non-
executive Director and members of the Group’'s Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He has over 27 years
of experience in the field of audit, business development, corporate
finance and financial management. Mr. Cheung is a member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts and Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute. He holds a Master of Science
degree in Financial Engineering from City University of Hong Kong
and Bachelor degrees in Arts and Administrative Studies from York
University, Canada. Mr. Cheung has been an Independent non-
executive director of Hong Wei (Asia) Holdings Co Ltd (Stock code:
8191) listed in Hong Kong since 6 October 2023.
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Mr. Lau Fan Yu , aged 56, is the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the company, Mr. Lau is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau
received his bachelor’'s degree of commerce (major in finance)
from Concordia University, Canada in May 1991. He further
completed the master of business administration from City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Lau has over 26
years of experience in the field of accounting and corporate
financial management, including experience as the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary in Hong Kong listed companies.

By order of the Board
Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEREE

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
liquid crystal display products including touch panel products and
electronic consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products
and electrical devices.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 52.

Interim dividend in aggregate of HK5 cents per share, amounting to
approximately HK$158,055,000, was paid to the shareholders
during the year ended 31 December 20283.

The directors recommend a payment of a final dividend of HK5
cents per share based on the number of ordinary shares in issue to
the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 20 May 2024 (Monday), amounting to
approximately HK$158,055,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired plant and machinery amounting
to HK$253,948,000 and furniture, fixtures and equipment
amounting to HK$58,940,000 for the purpose of expanding its
manufacturing capacity in Shan Wei City, Guangdong Province and
Meishan City, Sichuan Province in the People’s Republic of China.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the issued share capital of
the Company are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EEeREHE-_S-_=F+-_A=+—HItF
B2 FRPEEZTBHRE -

FERE

RARDREERAR]  EWBRARICEBEH
AEENEERRBETSER(BREEIERER)
REFBEESR  SEMABKESR  BEGER
RAE - AARBERREFHRRE -

RERGF SE

BE_FT_-—F+_A=t—HLFENLKE
XEFINFERAENGFAEa A2 ENRER
m o

BE-_ZE-_=F+-A=1+—H1EE 2Rk
RENOPEREABERSBNL & H£48
158,055,000 7T °

EZEEERDETEEARBEMN T ZNF
AAZ+HHEH ) RBIBRERMHARRF]IRE
KA ERBFBUNRBEBRE @ BLH A
158,055,000 % T °

W% BB R

FERAEERBERHEURTEARLMERER
EBWETMEROINEB LM EEMAZLES
253,948,000 B L 2 B ik U RBER
58,940,000 87T 2 Rk « B ME&

ZK%@Z%% J%ﬁ%&?&{ﬁﬁéiWZtﬁm&Em

Bz %
ARBZEBITRARFEAZESHFBHREE
B TS ERRIRESS

—FFH o FEFEBRERARP 25

_7_



DIRECTORS" REPORT

EFEREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders
as at 31 December 2023 were as follows:

F LB Z Sk GE R

RZZZ=F+=ZA=+—8 ' ARFAADET
PRz RN

2023 2022

—E-=F T F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Share premium f& % E 1,210,563 1,210,563
Special reserve BRI A 17,410 17,410
Retained profits REB =T 90,929 369,779
1,318,902 1,697,752

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is available for distributions or paying
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum or Articles of Association and provided that
immediate following the distribution or paying dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the
Company'’s subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the
nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisitions.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Lam Wai Wah
Wong Pong Chun, James
Cheung Wing Cheung

Non-executive directors:

Song Bei Bei
Dai Cheng Yun (re-designated from an executive director
to a non-executive director with effect from 28 August 2023)

Independent non-executive directors:

Chung Kam Kwong

Heung Kai Sing

Ip Cho Ting, Spencer (resigned on 25 March 2023)
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson (appointed on 25 March 2023)

In accordance with Article 120 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Wong Pong Chun, James, Song Bei Bei and Chung
Kam Kwong retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the above articles.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company or its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND EFEZRREREGDER
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2023, the interests of the directors and their R-ZE-=F+=-FA=+—H  REXATERE
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and &% N A& 1605 352 (& FTiR1E 2 B sC M Frac %
its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained siRIE FT AR E S EHITESR H WIZEXESTH|ZAE
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and M@ KRB REBHAELSHER AT ZEER -
Futures Ordinance, or as otherwise notified to the Company and EENHEBME AHE 2 A QA T R HAE EZE 2%
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model {5 iR EZRLOT ¢

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,

were as follows:

Long positions R
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company (a) ADATERMEEO2EBTZEER

Percentage of

Number of issued the issued share
ordinary shares capital of
Name of director Capacity held the Company
FrisE 817 EARARZEET
EEnE &1 ZRERHAE BRABDL
%
Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 1,504,956,000 47.61
MEE EmBAA
Held by spouse (note 1) 74,844,000 2.37
mEcERA (1)
1,679,800,000 49.98
Wong Pong Chun, James Held by spouse (note 2) 1,650,000 0.05
|mHE BEBIEE (FisE2)
Song Bei Bei Beneficial owner 2,600,000 0.08
REE EmBAA
Dai Cheng Yun Beneficial owner 244,000 0.01
BKE BEmEAA
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(b)

Registered capital of the associated corporation of
the Company

Truly Opto-Electronics Limited (“Truly Opto”) (Note 3)

(b) ADFEEEEZEMER

ERAERBARAR(ERELE] (HEI)

Percentage of
paid up registered

Registered capital capital of Truly

Name of director Capacity contributed (RMB) Opto

REFMELR HEFMXEZHE

EEnA 14 (AR¥®) EMEABDL

%

Wong Pong Chun, James Beneficial owner 2,590,120 0.7024

|mHE EmEAA

Notes: P EE

1.

Lam Wai Wah is deemed to be interested in 74,844,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, being the interests held beneficially by his
spouse, Chung King Yee, Cecilia.

Wong Pong Chun, James is deemed to be interested in 1,650,000
ordinary shares of the Company, being the interests held
beneficially by his spouse, Lai Ching Mui, Stella.

Truly Opto-Electronics Limited, a company registered in the
People’'s Republic of China, is an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as at 31 December 2023.

SHARE SCHEME

During the year, the Company has not adopted any share option
scheme or other share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

1. R ZE AR B A 74,844,000 % i B AR (B 4%
BRERBEZARR LB -

2. = PEWAR B A 1,650,000 i HEEZRE
BERFEZ AN R T AAES -

3. EFREERMHARATDRHEARKMEGE
Mz RAD) /ARRR 2 BEIFZEMBLRF -

BREXEEEN R_T_=F+_A=1+—H"
EEFAEBEAMERER AR B L E TR
B Z IR RARRER D 2 (s SRR -

Bxin &t &
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ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above under the heading “Directors’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares”, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director or other officer and the auditor or auditors of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit
of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout
the financial year. The Company has taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions
against its Directors.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance shows that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of Lam Wai Wah, the
Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or
short positions in the issued share capital of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2023.

DISCLOSEABLE AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

On 17 January 2023, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited
(“Truly Electronics HK", a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) (as purchaser) entered into an equity transfer agreement
with Mr. Lam Wai Wah, an executive Director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company (as vendor), pursuant to which Mr.
Lam Wai Wah has agreed to transfer 1,043,460 Truly Opto Shares
(representing approximately 0.2829% of the total shareholding
interests of Truly Opto) to Truly Electronics HK at the consideration
of RMB10,000.
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On 17 January 2023 , Truly Electronics HK (as purchaser) entered
into an equity transfer agreement with Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung,
an executive Director of the Company (as vendor), pursuant to
which Mr. Cheung has agreed to transfer 324,020 Truly Opto
Shares (representing approximately 0.0879% of the total
shareholding interests of Truly Opto) to Truly Electronics HK at the
consideration of RMB10,000.

Upon completion of the acquisitions on 18 January 2023, Truly
Opto remained as an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and was owned as to approximately 99.2976% by
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and as to approximately
0.7024% by Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, a director of the
Company.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A and
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has not yet adopted any share option scheme or
other share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules during
the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman lIslands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

MODEL CODE

None of the Directors of the Company is aware of information that
would reasonably indicate that the Company was not in the year
under review in compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over
the Group's financial reporting matters and internal controls. The
Audit Committee comprises all the three independent non-
executive directors namely Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, being the
Chairman, Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Cheung Wai Yin Wilson as
members. They meet at least four times a year.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Group has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, a confirmation that he met the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

The Company has a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination
Committee respectively which were established in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Corporate Governance Code.
The two Committees are chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, an
independent non-executive director and comprise three other
members, namely Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai Yin
Wilson, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. \Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the
Company is essential to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders and enhancing the performance of the Group. The
Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance. We have complied with all the applicable
code provisions set out in the “Corporate Governance Code”
contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023, except for a major deviation as below:

° Code Provision C.2.1 The roles of the chairman and the chief
executive are not separated and are performed by the same
individual, Mr. Lam Wai Wah. The Board believes that this
structure will enable the Company to achieve higher
efficiency and effectiveness when formulating business
strategies and executing business plans. The Board will meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations
of the Company. The Board considers that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the
Board and the Company’s management.
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. Code Provision F.2.2 The Chairman did not attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 12 May 2023 in
Hong Kong because he has been stationed at the Shanwei
factory of the Group.

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner. More details are contained in the
separate Corporate Governance Report on pages 34 to 44.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the Directors’
knowledge as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$1,699,000.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Wai Wah
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board

The Board was responsible for the Company’'s corporate
governance, and was ultimately accountable for the Company’s
activities, strategies and financial performance.

The Board was mainly responsible for formulating and approving
the business strategies, objectives, policies and plans of the
Company, and monitoring the execution of the Company's
strategies. It was also responsible for overseeing the operating and
financial performance of the Company and establishing appropriate
risk control policies and procedures in order to ensure that the
strategic objectives of the Company are materialized. In addition,
the Board was also responsible for improving the corporate
governance structure and enhancing communications with
shareholders.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities for the execution of
strategies and decision-making for day-to-day operation of the
Company to the management team headed by the Managing
Director, Mr. Lam Wai Wah.

The management reported regularly to the Board on the operating
and financial performance of the Company. Development,
expansion and other major capital expenditure and commitment, as
well as major financing decisions were all reviewed and approved
by the Board.

Connections between members of the Board

None of the members of the Board have any connections (including
financial, business, family relationship and other material/related
relationships) with each other during the period under review.

Director’s dealing in securities

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors had complied with their obligations
regarding dealings in securities under the Model Code set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules during the period under review.
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Non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term
but were subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
to the Company and considered that each of the independent non-
executive Directors was independent to the Company during the
period under review.

Directors’ Training

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses. The Company has been
encouraging the directors to participate continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional
institutions or professional firms and reading materials on relevant
topics so that they can continuously update and further improve
their relevant knowledge and skills.

In addition, the Company Secretary reports from time to time the
latest changes and development of the Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices and other regulatory regime to the Directors
with written materials.
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Board committees

The Board was supported by three Board Committees. Each Board
Committee has its own responsibilities, power and functions. The
chairman of the respective Board Committees reported to the
Board from time to time and made recommendations on matters
discussed when appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which have been revised by the Board on 26 March
2012 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong, an independent non-executive director and comprise three
other members, namely Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai
Yin, Wilson, being independent non-executive directors and Mr.
Wong Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s policy and
structure of the remuneration of the directors and senior
management and the specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors and senior management. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors for the year are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Remuneration
Committee to review the remuneration packages and assess the
performance of executive directors and non-executive director and
the director’'s fees of the independent non-executive directors. All
members of the Remuneration Committee attended the said
meetings.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the nomination committee (the
Nomination Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 20
August 2014 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Nomination
Committee's authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong,
an independent non-executive director and comprise three other
members, namely Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai Yin,
Wilson, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and
to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to any
proposed changes.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Nomination
Committee to review the nomination procedures and the current
composition of the Board. All members of the Nomination
Committee attended the said meetings.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been
revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 18 November 2015
pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Audit Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
provide supervision over the Group’s financial reporting matters,
internal controls and the system of risk management.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr.
Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson, with Mr. Chung
Kam Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year. All
members of the Audit Committee attended the said meetings.
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The Board Meetings, Board Committees Meetings and EEgeE EESZES2gBNRBREARE
General Meetings

The Directors' attendances at the Board Meetings, the Board REZ-_ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—HILEE &=
Committees Meetings and General Meetings for the yearended 31 REZg@% ZEeZ8eomkREA®Y
December 2023 were as follows: HEERNT

Number of meetings attended

HESFXRE
General
Board Board Committees Meetings
g ExgZEg BRERE
Director Audit Remuneration Nomination
5= B Eq0) RrE
Executive directors:
HITES:
Lam Wai Wah 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 01
B NEA NiE A iE A
Wong Pong Chun, James 4/4 n/a 4/4 4/4 11
=& i A
Cheung Wing Cheung 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 11
IR SR T EA TEA T EA
Non-executive directors:
FHITES :
Song Bei Bei 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0/1
RER NEA NiE A A
Dai Cheng Yun 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0/1
BKE T EA TEA T EA
Independent non-executive directors:
BYFHITES :
Chung Kam Kwong 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 1/
FEXib)v
Heung Kai Sing 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 0N
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson 3/3 3/3 3/3 3/3 11
(appointed on 25 March 2023)
REE
(RZZ-_=F=ZA-+HBAEZMT)
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer A /1 A Al n/a
(resigned on 25 March 2023) T EA
EHE=
(R=ZZE—=F=A=-t+HAHMT)
Total number of meeting(s) held 4 4 4 4 1
BITERAH

Note: Mr. Dai Cheng Yun was re-designated from an executive director to a Wit B EAEE TS _=FNA-+/\HEEHEHTES

non-executive director with effect from 28 August 2023. Among 4 board FAEERITES - ENAEFTSFHET - BEENURR
meetings, Mr. Dai attended 3 board meetings and 1 board meeting in his TEERIINTESIHORIEFE-RESSeE N
capacity as an executive director and a non-executive director, —REFEFEEH -

respectively.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees for audit and non-
audit services paid to the Company’s external auditors amounted
to HK$4,800,000 and HK$205,000 respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Throughout the year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023,
the Board conducted reviews of the effectiveness of the internal
control system in all material respects including but not limited to
operational, financial, risk management and compliance controls.
The Group’s system of internal control comprised a well-defined
organizational and management structure with levels and limits of
authority which was established to help achieve business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized access or
disposal, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records to
produce reliable management and financial information for internal
use and for publication purpose, help management mitigate
potential risk factors and ensure compliance with relevant rules and
regulations. The system was designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems so as to achieve the Group's objectives and long-term
goals.
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The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
. Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

° Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has engaged an external compliance consultancy and
Internal control services limited as its risk management and internal
control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review
of the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Such review is conducted annually and
cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser has
reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board and Audit Committee are
of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and
significant event that may impact the price of the Shares or their
trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is
considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon
as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA
of the SFO. Executive Directors and the legal advisor also may
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or
circulars to be issued by the Company under powers delegated by
the Board from time to time.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements for the year 2023. The Management also provides all
directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’'s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08
and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Mr. Lau Fan Yu, the
CFO of the Group. The Company Secretary reported to the Board
chairman from time to time. All directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary to ensure that board
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Since Mr. Lau was appointed in 2020, he has to take no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training for the financing year
commencing on or after 1 January 2021 and he has fulfilled the
requirement during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors. All
resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each shareholder meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

(1) Communication with Shareholders and Procedures
for putting forward proposals at general meetings

All published information, including financial statements,
results announcements, circulars and notices of general
meetings and associated explanatory documents are promptly
posted on the Group’s website at www.truly.com.hk. Viewers
can also send enquiries and proposals putting forward for
shareholders’ consideration at shareholder meetings to the
Board or senior management by email at enquiry@truly.com.hk
or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the
Company.
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(2) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") of the
Company. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than
one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at the general meeting of the
Company may send a written request to the Board of the
Company to request for a EGM. The written requisition, duly
signed by the shareholders concerned, must state the
purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the
Company’s principle place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general
meetings may follow the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

(3) Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’'s Memorandum and
Articles of Association during the financial year 2023. A copy
of the Memorandum and Articles of Association is posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect
from 28 March 2019, the Board may consider declaring and paying
dividends to the Shareholders out of the Company’s distributable
reserves. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain
to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board, subject to the
requirements of all applicable laws and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.

Under the dividend policy, in deciding whether to propose or
declare a dividend and in determining the dividend amount and
means of payment, the Board shall take into account, among
others:

(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(i)  the capital and debt level of the Group;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and major subsidiaries of the Group; and

(v)  the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development plans of the Group.
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The Board shall endeavor to strike a balance between providing
immediate return to the shareholders through the payment of
dividends whilst retaining adequate reserves as the Group's
working capital and for the Group’s future growth. There can be no
assurance that dividends will be proposed, declared or paid by the
Company in any particular amount at any time or from time to time.

The Board will from time to time review the dividend policy and
may exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems
fit and necessary. Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2019.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the importance of diversity to corporate
governance and the board effectiveness.

The purpose of this policy is to set out the basic principles to be
followed to ensure that the board of directors (the “Board”) has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while
taking into account diversity.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, race, language,
cultural background, educational background, industry experience
and professional experience.

As at 31 December 2023, 57% and 43% (2022: 57% and 43%) of
the Group's employees were male and female respectively. The
Group recognises the value of gender diversity to promote a
diverse and inclusive working environment and welcomes
increased female representation at all levels. However, the Group
currently does not consider it appropriate to set any specific gender
target for its workforce.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Truly
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 52 to
168, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on the matter.
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BB EE

KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key audit matter

REETEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RITZ BT M REEARENSFE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

AR Z Bl EEF 1

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly (Hui Zhou) Smart Display
Limited (“Truly HZ") in 2021 as a key audit matter due to
the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the
significant degree of estimations made by the
management of the Group associated with the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated.
RIR—_ZE-—FRBEMNEMN) BB RERAR(E
MBI EE 2 ABREN G RARETFE - WHHER
HERUHGAVBRACERZEHEE N E5EER
BB ReELEMATRESRIELEARE
{5t e

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill arising from Truly HZ included:

RIS ENENEENNEMERENEETZIEFE
=

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent valuer;

o FHMEBUMEMZER - g HREFEIN

° Discussing with the management and the
independent valuer to understand the key
estimations made by the management in the
impairment assessment of goodwill including the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth
rates and discount rates adopted;

e HEBEREVGEMNRABREEERNEERE
FHEER R E BT (BB TR - EFE
BRERAFAMBEE)
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key audit matter

BARETEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FTzENAEERRESSE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management assessed the impairment
of goodwill by estimation of recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
which is the higher of the value-in-use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit based on five-year
financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Key estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow projections for the period
covered by the approved financial budgets include the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth
rates and discount rates adopted. The management also
engaged an independent valuer to perform the valuation,
including determine the discount rate. As disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount of
goodwill arising from acquisition of Truly HZ as at 31
December 2023 was HK$534,000,000, representing
2.2% of total assets of the Group. Based on the
impairment assessment of the goodwill, an impairment
loss of HK$53,424,000 was recognised in the profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2023.

WA E SRR M AP IR EE - EEEEBMATEES
eEEnReEFEMUNAIKRESE(REREEREAT
BERHEXNANERE)TAEEBRE - CREEHE
Zk ERERE BESEEEEMENTIFUBKREER
AR ELABUARELANARASRERASBENIERX
LFTHEIRE - REZEVBEEREZHEBE e RETRAF
BRHEZMFREGTIEAKE - ERE  ERERFR
PRABEIR X - %iﬁﬁ%ﬂ%éﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂiwﬁﬁfﬁﬁ 25
BEMBRE - RNGEMBRERAKRE RZT_=F
TZA=ZT+T-BUEBEEANENELABENREER
534,000,000, /87T - HHER BEREREEM22% - 1R
BEEBZBENE  BEZT_=F+_A=1+—HI1tF
B - B N R H) R E &5 18 /& 53,424,000 8 7T

Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used by the management in the
estimation of recoverable amount, including revenue
projection and growth rate applied;

AT }?&J'BA1$H+THSZ@%§EE~;)E&%%I%%JJ\%{F
EEBEHZR(BERATENRARAMBAEE)EESE

Evaluating the appropriateness of discount rate
applied in the forecast by comparing them to
economic and industry data and certain company
specific parameters, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, as well as evaluating
the reasonableness of parameters applied by the
independent valuer; and

EASBEEZRNHE T - BERKTERIER 2 AR E
BB RITEBBRIETARREL28H L - SHEE
REEE  WHEBB L HEMMAZ2ENEEE &

Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial
budgets approved by the management and the cash
flow projections by comparing the actual results of
those cash-generating unit to the previously
forecasted results used.
FEEZEFRELEM 2 BREE R SAITRA
ERIEE  STHEEEHACHBRERRERETE
AIE) & M o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

EBABBENGEMBERRARIBZIRE

AITZ B ERBEZEEZRBERERAMH
BREBEO N FERRAGFRBERMER 2 E
RERFARGAERE  YHABRBATER
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MEMATEESE EAEE - A BRERS
KFEZREE - BTARERERBEBEEAET
ZEN ER-EAERRAFERBERR -
SEERPRAL AT LA R BRFF SR ER AR 51 - IR A IETAH
ZERRRAEBHERERAIETEZERA
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ERBEEBEEANETE 2 B2 » K178
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RERA - SORER AT 2 & - B REE
BRRARFMERcEAFERRE AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB EE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lam Chi Hong.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RS REMZEERR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « HBZ_—_Z_=%+_A=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
—E-= B
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
=2 F#ET FHIT
Revenue Wz 5 15,588,143 19,287,434
Cost of sales HHE AR (14,265,850)  (17,802,462)
Gross profit EF 1,322,293 1,484,972
Other income H A 7 109,537 234,084
Other gains and losses, net HibiEzm F88 8 (18,240) 78
Impairment loss on goodwill AR ERE 19 (53,424) -
Reversal of impairment losses under  JEEA(Z B LER NRERE
expected credit loss model, net B EFE 2,170 35,740
Distribution and selling expenses DIERIEEER (321,291) (458,221)
Finance costs i%EHA 9 (389,443) (354,558)
Administrative expenses TRER (449,019) (583,786)
Share of result of an associate DE—EE QAR EE 46,802 18,256
Profit before tax AR 249,385 376,565
Income tax expense FiSfiFx 10 (88,949) (57,364)
Profit for the year AN A 11 160,436 319,201
Other comprehensive expenses AEEHMEZEAX
for the year
Items that may be reclassified AJBER A1 B S HE 1855 Y
subsequently to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINETEFTEE A 2 INEZ R
translation of foreign operations (360,444) (1,126,293)
Total comprehensive expenses AFEELEM LB
for the year (200,008) (807,092)
Profit (loss) for the year REERR (EE) ML -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIEZE N 262,799 318,233
Non-controlling interests FEIERRRERS (102,363) 968
160,436 319,201
Total comprehensive expenses AEERHEABEREL
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company PAN/NEE 2 =N (89,561) (781,184)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RERS (110,447) (25,908)
(200,008) (807,092)
Earnings per share BRREN
Basic (HK cents per share) HEAR(FRRAE) 15 8.31 9.77
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRAER

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 « R—ZE_=F+_HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= B
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
=2 F#ET FHIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BB MR 16 12,928,174 14,023,037
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 599,568 915,060
Goodwvill RS 18 534,413 587,837
Interest in an associate R—EBEARNERS 20 1,542,138 1,637,854
Financial assets at fair value through REBHUATFEBEYEZSMEE
profit or loss 21 4,220 3,689
Deferred tax assets RERIREE 32 47,193 62,176
Deposits paid for acquisition of HEME - BEREEZNETE
property, plant and equipment 52,809 17,218
Rental deposits HEZS 23 256 79,922
15,708,771 17,226,793
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 22 3,206,930 3,164,254
Derivative financial instruments TESBMTA 25 = 1,894
Trade and other receivables JRE U BR TR I B Ath e W R TE 23 3,576,849 3,357,797
Trade and bills receivables at fair value  FAH {th 2 E U 25 LA A (B E 5 B8R
through other comprehensive income 7 FEURBRTE K fE UL 22 1% 24 619,109 990,645
Amount due from an associate FE U S & R B FOE 26 8,828 15,154
Tax recoverable Al BB I = 30,933
Restricted bank deposits ZRRGIRITIF K 27 582,856 844,894
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBRLZEEY 27 802,291 858,759
8,796,863 9,264,330
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR T8 K2 EL A JE - IR 28 7,025,977 7,529,208
Contract liabilities AHEaE 29 270,584 375,110
Tax payable & B 18 106,191 101,184
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMER 30 5,104,469 5,387,879
Amount due to an associate R —HEE QIR 26 418,493 528,618
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 4,200 94,507
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA 25 - 1,030
12,929,914 14,017,536
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETFE (4,133,051) (4,753,206)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERRBARS
LIABILITIES 11,575,720 12,473,587
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HeMBRAR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 » R—Z_=F+_-_A=+—H

2023 2022
—E2-= —E=-=
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
Mo e FET TFETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Bank and other borrowings HRITREAMER 30 1,570,967 1,877,648
Other payables Hib e3R8 28 26,697 50,061
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 1,169 52,772
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 32 156,124 156,203
1,754,957 2,136,684
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,820,763 10,336,903
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRR#EE
Share capital & A 33 63,222 63,222
Share premium and other reserves A& 15 % (B M Bt 9,534,864 9,922,463
Equity attributable to owners of RATEE AELER
the Company 9,598,086 9,985,685
Non-controlling interests TR 222,677 351,218
TOTAL EQUITY SR 9,820,763 10,336,903

The consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 168 were HMNE2F 168 B VA EHREER =M
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on F=A-+FNAEEESI ENBETE S H

26 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: IUTATREESE
Lam Wai Wah Wong Pong Chun, James
mwEE EHM®
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReEREER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « HZ=Z==%+—=5

Share
capital

Bx

HK$'000

ThT

Share
premium

BfieE

Special
reserve

hlfE
HK$000

Capital
redemption
reserve

EAREGE

Exchange
reserve

AERRE
HK$'000

Other
reserves

AfbGe
HK$'000

Retained
profits

REEA
HK$'000

Total equity
attributable to
owners of
the Company
FRAEEA
BEREEE
HK§'000
T

Non-
controlling
interests

FRER
HK$'000
Fin

At 1 January 2022 RZE--E-F-H 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 994,182 1,692,476 7,132,642 11,282,383 377,126 11,659,509
Profitfor the year REERR - - - - - - 318233 318,233 968 319,201
Other comprehensive expenses TEEEMRERS

for the year

—Bxchange differences arisingon ~~ —AEBNERFEL

translation of foreign operations NEZE - - - - (1,099417) - - (1,099417) (26876 (1126293

Total comprehensive (expenses) RERRE (AR hass

income for the year - - - - (1,009,417) - 318,233 (781,184) (25,908) (807,092)
Repurchase and cancellation of BE REERR (H33)

share (note 33) (2,563) 184,878) - - - - - (187,441) - (187,441)
Dividend declared (note 14) BERRE (1) - - - - - - (328,073) (328,073) - (328,073)
Transfer 2 - - - - - 12976 (12,976) - - -
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZE+ZA=1-8 63,222 1,210,563 990 867 (105,235) 1,705,452 7,109,826 9,985,685 351218 10,336,903
Profit loss) for the year RERET (BB - - - - = = 262,799 262,799 (102,363) 160,436
Other comprehensive expenses TEELMRERS

for the year

—Bxchange differencesarsingon  —AEENERFEL 2

translation of foreign operations NEER - - - - (352,360) - - (352,360) (8,084) (360,444)

Total comprehensive expenses FEERERY (%) 68

(income] for the year - - - - (352,360) - 262,199 (89,561) (110,447) (200,008)
Acquisition of additional interest in E-BHERAREN

asubsidiary (note 43(a) & (a0 = = - - (1,160) 3900 15,332 18,072 (18,094) (22
Dividend declared (note 14) BERRE (Hi14) - - - - - - (316,110) 316,110) - (316,110)
Transfer 2 - - - - - 14,206 (14,206) - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=E+ZA=1-8 63,222 1,210,563 990 867 (458,755) 1,723,558 7,057,641 9,598,086 222,671 9,820,763
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeHRERR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « HBZ_—_Z_=%+_A=+—HLEFE

56

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisitions in prior year.

Other reserves comprise:

(i) the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") other than Hong Kong. According to the Articles of
Association of the PRC subsidiaries, a percentage of net profit as
reported in the PRC statutory accounts should be transferred to
the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
determined at the discretion of the board of directors of these
companies. The statutory surplus reserve can be set off against
accumulated losses whilst the enterprise expansion reserve can be
used for expansion of production facilities or an increase in
registered capital; and

(ii) the amounts arising from the acquisition of additional equity
interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries or deemed disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
without losing control. It represents the difference between the
consideration paid or received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RelaRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 » HZE_—ZE==F+_A=+—HIEE

2023 2022
—E=-= —F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Profit before tax T A& A 249,385 376,565
Adjustments for: FEE -
Interest income FEUA (21,556) (20,637)
Reversal of impairment losses under JEWBRIETEBRE AR AR TRE
expected credit loss model on trade E R R FEE
receivable, net (2,170) (35,740)
(Reversal of) allowance for inventories, net 175 (B[ #4#) B i %58 (33,418) 32,448
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BE N RETE
equipment 1,357,394 1,651,313
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (FREEETE 61,447 72,026
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE MEmE  MENREZEIS
plant and equipment 74,552 27,335
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE 53,424 -
(Gain) loss from changes in fair value of REBHEAATFEEYIRZ SREE
financial assets at fair value through NEEEZE (W) EiE
profit or loss (531) 844
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of THEeRTAENFEESZEEE
derivative financial instruments, net (Y z8) 958 222 (1,577)
Government grants BT B (52,044) (169,064)
Share of result of an associate DL E R R FEE (46,802) (18,256)
Finance costs W5 ER 389,443 354,558
Operating cash flows before movements Rt BEESFIR L LERERE
in working capital 2,029,346 2,169,815
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE g R (96,219) 699,834
(Increase) decrease in trade and other JE U AR TR Je B e Y sk IE (3800 ) Rk >
receivables (266,327) 1,064,015
Decrease (increase) in trade and bills REMEEWREAAFEESER S
receivables at fair value through other JFEE Uit B T N R W 2= 4 0k > (38 n)
comprehensive income 344,311 (565,833)
Increase in trade and other payables FESTBRIA N E b {5 FRIA S 0 3,463,145 1,808,544
Decrease in contract liabilities AHaERD (95,574) (198,474)
Decrease in amount due to an associate FE T R B 5RIE R (110,125) (150,897)
Decrease (increase) in amount due from JE s B 8 B OB R > (400
an associate 6,326 (15,154)
Government grants received for operating B U TR AR 25 E)
activities 48,530 163,538
Receipt arising from net settlement of MESRIAAEFEEENKA
derivative financial instruments 642 129
Cash generated from operations KBRS 5,324,055 4,975,517
Hong Kong profits tax refunded (paid) ERE (B8 BENEH 19,953 (4,915)
PRC withholding tax paid B2 EIE - (5,936)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B EEMEN (60,015) (70,490)
Tax paid for other jurisdictions Hfn AR 2 aiiE (1,016) (1,130)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZEIFfBRETE 5,282,977 4,893,046
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeKRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « HZ_ZT_—

=E P~ Aoem=R It RE

NOTES
=

2023
—Eg-=

HK$'000
F#

2022
e —

=

HK$'000
TAT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Purchase of property, BEWE  BELERE

plant and equipment (458,441) (872,306)
Placement of restricted bank deposits  TF X R FIER1T1F K (92,418) (439,681)
Deposits paid for acquisition of FUEEYE - BEMEREL T2

property, plant and equipment (52,809) (17,218)
Repayment of deferred consideration  {E3& UgBE i B A Al FIELE A (B

on acquisition of a subsidiary - (464,000)
Acquisition of an additional interest U BE — B & A B R IME R

in an associate (601,621) (348,000)
Refund for rental deposits HEEZSRER = 789
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME  BENMREHFTERIE

plant and equipment 3,749 3,573
Interest received EFE 21,556 20,637
Release of restricted bank deposits fERR PR FIIRTTIF X 354,456 39,634
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEHFFAREFHE

ACTIVITIES (825,528) (2,076,572)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEED
Repayment of bank and other EEBRITREMER

borrowings (10,636,130) (8,678,655)
Interest paid for bank and other FLERTT R HAE T AT B

borrowings (366,110) (323,203)
Dividend paid BEARIRE (316,110) (328,073)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEEMES (56,135) (136,814)
Interest paid for consideration on FhUL S — BB 2 A B BB IME RS HY

acquisition of an additional interest REZMHE

in an associate (19,570) -
Interest paid for lease liabilities ONEEaENE (7,007) (15,938)
Acquisition of additional interest in Ui B — M B A R BB IME 5

a subsidiary (22) -
Payment on repurchase and RE ] R T SHAR D 15T 3R

cancellation of shares = (187,447)
Interest paid for bonds payable B ERESF A - (18,096)
Repayments of bonds payable EEENES - (348,000)
New bank and other borrowings raised 354817 & E g =k 6,896,540 6,891,571
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING METHAREFRE

ACTIVITIES (4,504,544) (3,144,649)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRRESESEEARIDFE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (47,095) (328,175)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F{lzBe¢RkBEE£%ZEER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 858,759 1,208,068
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREEH

RATE CHANGES (9,373) (21,134)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT & REe¢RREEEHER -

END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances ERT&FREAES

and cash 802,291 858,759
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GENERAL

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company. The
Company is a public limited company with its shares listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Wai
Wah, who is also the Chairman and Managing Director of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section
headed "General Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is different
from the functional currency of the Company, as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is the
most appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display (“LCD")
products including touch panel products and electronic
consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) have applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and February

2022 Amendments to

HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement Policies
2

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

21

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments narrow the
scope of the recognition exemption of deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and
24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i) the Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to leasing transactions that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022,

(i) the Group also, as at 1 January 2022, recognised
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary difference associated with
right-of-use-assets and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial position and
performance, except that the Group recognised the
related deferred tax assets of HK$6,085,000 and
deferred tax liabilities of HK$6,085,000 on a gross basis
in note 32 but it has no impact on the retained earnings
at the earliest period presented.

2.
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62

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements is amended to replace all
instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback?
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current
HKAS 1 or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants?

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability®
HKAS 21

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
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64

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity's own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that the
classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with
which an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity's right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with
only after the reporting period do not affect whether that right
exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply
the 2022 Amendments for that period.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2023, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s
liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments add a disclosure objective to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows stating that an entity is required to
disclose information about its supplier finance arrangements
that enables users of financial statements to assess the
effects of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and

cash flows. In addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

Disclosures was amended to add supplier finance
arrangements as an example within the requirements to
disclose information about an entity’'s exposure to
concentration of liquidity risk.

The term ‘supplier finance arrangements’ is not defined.
Instead, the amendments describe the characteristics of an
arrangement for which an entity would be required to provide
the information.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance
Arrangements (Continued)

To meet the disclosure objective, an entity will be required to
disclose in aggregate for its supplier finance arrangements:

° The terms and conditions of the arrangements;

° The carrying amount and associated line items
presented in the entity’'s statement of financial position,
of the liabilities that are part of the arrangements, and
the non-cash changes in the carrying amounts of these
financial liabilities;

° The carrying amount, and associated line items for
which the suppliers have already received payment
from the finance providers;

° Ranges of payment due dates for both those financial
liabilities that are part of a supplier finance arrangement
and comparable trade payables that are not part of a
supplier finance arrangement; and liquidity risk
information.

The amendments, which contain specific transition reliefs for
the first annual reporting period in which an entity applies the
amendments, are applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Earlier application is
permitted.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group
but may affect the disclosures of liabilities, cash flows and
the Group's exposure to liquidity risk related to the supplier
finance arrangements entered into by the Group. The impacts
of application, if any, will be disclosed in the Group's future
consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 » HZE_—ZE==F+_A=+—HIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KEH &)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEABTBERER(E)
(Continued)
Goodwill (Continued) wE (&)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’'s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate is recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if
there is excess of the consideration paid over the share
of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to
the additional interests in associates acquired over the
consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Information about the Group's accounting policies
relating to contracts with customers is provided in note
5.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress as described below), are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold
land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the reducing balance/straight-line methods. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ®EH B
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEABTBERER(E)
(Continued)
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HEZEE

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ®EH B
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEABTBERER(E)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HmEE)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBEBREA (E)
Lease modifications (Continued) THEEE (&)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more
additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component. The associated non-lease
components are included in the respective lease
components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, (i) the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into US$; (ii)
the assets and liabilities of the Group denominated or
translated into US$ are then translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of the exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ®EH B
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEABTBERER(E)
(Continued)
Government grants BT 2 By

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KEH &)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEABTBERER(E)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) BIE(E)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on
a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « BZ_—Z-=Ft+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“"FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and trade
receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 » HZE_—ZE==F+_A=+—HIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KEH &)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEABTBERER(E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHMEE (18)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREETZ DEREEE (B)
assets (Continued)
(i)  Trade receivables classified as at FVTOCI iy DBEAENHEMEZEARENARFEE

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
trade and bills receivables classified as at FVTOCI
as a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these receivables are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of FVTOCI reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts of
these receivables. When these receivables are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains and
losses” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI and restricted bank deposits and
bank balances) which is subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 » HZE_—ZE==F+_A=+—HIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant

deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a
low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

FEMBEBREREEREXEHR
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(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) EHMEE (1B)

90

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower

RIEEZ B WG ER BN RETT
BEF G 2R A ERE (E)

(iif)

HREEREZEREE
E-HIZHAHSBMEEMBTR
KReREERINEEZEMH
BAR RTZEMEELR
EERE - eREEHREER
BEZEBRBRENIIEFZAEE
B -

(@ BWITARBERABIEE
A TR IR 2

b) ERAH  PIMEDHILE
TEEES

© BRAZEHREEZR
AV BRER B2 LEX
BHEEMBA TERAL
EREMBER TN TIE
hZ@F ok

(d)  BFRABAIREMREREST

will enter bankruptcy or other financial Hh B % EA -
reorganisation.
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  HEHECR

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023

AEEEBEERBRYFARA
BRE A R R BB R U Bl AT RE
(PIER S F 77 R R AT AT
BFERR(IEE )R - CMEHE
TREEDAREANEE 24D
TR BB BT - MEHEA —
TRBURRER ST o AR EHEM
FIARR B HER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 » HZE_—ZE==F+_A=+—HIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KEH &)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEABTBERER(E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIE(E)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group assesses
ECL on trade receivables which are credit-
impaired individually and uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on remaining trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

EHEE (F)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
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(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHMEE (1B)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Except for trade and bills receivables that are
measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
For trade and bills receivables that are measured
at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying
amount of these receivables. Such amount
represents the changes in the FVTOCI reserve in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfer the financial asset and
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of trade and bills receivables classified
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to an
associate) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’'s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units or the group of cash-generating unit. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill arising on acquisition of Truly
(Hui Zhou) Smart Display Limited (“Truly HZ") is impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated which is
the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit based on five-year financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
Group engages an independent valuer to perform the
valuation, including determining the discount rate. The
management of the Group works closely with the
independent valuer to establish the appropriate estimation
model and inputs to the model. Key estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow projections for the period covered by
the approved financial budgets include the estimate of
forecast revenue, gross margins, growth rates and discount
rate adopted. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using long-term growth rate of 2%. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes
in facts and circumstances which result in downward revision
of expected future cash inflows due to unfavourableness, a
material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly HZ was amounted to
HK$534,000,000 (2022: HK$587,424,000) net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$135,559,000 (2022: HK$82,135,000).
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. #FfHEEMENEEREE)

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) T TFTREMNEERIER(E)

Allowance for inventories FEEE

The Group's inventories include LCD products and electronic AREENFERERBERA N SERNET
consumer products. The net realisable values are subject to SEEBEM - BIRFESMM TS ERES)
fluctuation of market prices of steel products. When there is S BHIEHIR N HKBHE &K RINE
a downward trend in the market, the selling price of the Ergee T HoZRFEEKXES - ¥
finished goods may decrease which imposes pressures to —E-=F+_A=+—H FEZERHEHAE
the net realisable values. As at 31st December, 2023, the /£3,206,930,0007% 7T ( 0 #0 B 77 & B
carrying amount of inventories was HK$3,206,930,000 (net of 405,601,000 7T )( = & = = #:
write-down of inventories of HK$405,601,000 (2022: 3,164,254,000% T( 1 & F & #M &
HK$3,164,254,000 (net of write-down of inventories of 439,019,000/%7T)) °

HK$439,019,000)).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables FEWNERIBE z TAHA(S i1
Credit-impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL HIBZERE 7 EWRIE Y E RSB E
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to B o N AEBFRBHEERETERE
calculate ECL for the not credit-impaired trade receivables ARBEMEE M E D IREEREZ U
which have similar credit risk characteristics. The provision RIE 7 FEEAZ Bk - BB RIRTRGBHEA
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various BRI EARRTE T AAEEE
debtors taking into consideration the Group's historical LR R BAMNE M EK AL H AT
default rates and forward-looking information that is EEAEAEAMKEZAIEEER - R&R
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or LHEFTEESERMEELNER  TERE
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default AIEMEER 2 B ) -

rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. BHERBABRERZ G EHTE - B
The information about the Group's trade receivables and the ZNEE e W BE 1A K FEERZ BB %k 2 B REAM
ECL are disclosed in notes 23 and 35(b). #7123 & 35(b) H & -

5. REVENUE 5. &
Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers by BELEBERIAP ZELPANRESITHT -

types of products is analysed as follows:

2023 2022
—E=-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Sales of LCD products HERRBEREEMD 13,382,037 15,693,468
Sales of electronic consumer products HEBE T HEER 2,206,106 3,593,966

15,588,143 19,287,434
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REVENUE (Continued)

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of LCD products and electronic consumer
products. The Group recognises the revenue at a point in
time when the control of products is transferred to the
customer, i.e. when the goods have been delivered to
customer'’s specific location. A receivable is recognised by
the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer’s
premises as this represents the point in time at which the
right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due. The
customers have neither rights of return nor rights to defer or
avoid payment for the goods once they are accepted by the
customers. The normal credit period is 30 to 120 days upon
delivery.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, all
performance obligations for sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products are for period of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are not disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses
on the sales of different types of products. Inter-segment
sales are charged at prevailing market rates. Thus the Group
is currently organised into two operating segments which are
sales of LCD products and electronic consumer products. The
information for each operating segment is as follows:

manufacture and distribution of
LCD products and touch panel
products

LCD products —

manufacture and distribution of
electronic consumer products
such as compact camera
module, fingerprint identification
modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices

Electronic consumer —
products
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SEEEE)
Segment revenues and results pal AL eI ES
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBIZEE NREDIEE DS M EE
results by operating and reportable segments: DT -
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-=F+=-A=+—HLEE
Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total  Eliminations Consolidated
R BETY
BREEm HEER gtk Hs e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THT TET THET
|
REVENUE g
External sales g8 13,382,037 2,206,106 15,588,143 - 15,588,143
Inter-segment sales HEREE - 597,570 597,570 (597,570) -
13,382,037 2,803,676 16,185,713 (597,570) 15,588,143
RESULT £
Segment result NEEE 742,205 (53,980) 688,225 (17,578) 670,647
Finance costs NBER (389,443)
Impairment loss on BEREEE
goodwil (53,424)
Share of result of AME—REE DA
an associate 2 46,802
Unallocated expenses RAWFAX (24,975)
Unallocated other gains R AT E iz
and losses LERE (222)
Profit before tax BEDER 249,385
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SEEEE)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEWEREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-_—_F+-HA=1+—HLEE
Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total Eliminations ~ Consolidated
BemEE g1
BAsEmM HEER : Eafis
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT BT THT
REVENUE I
External sales SN 15,693,468 3,593,966 19,287,434 - 19,287,434
Inter-segment sales SEREE - 437,453 437,453 (437,453) -
15,693,468 4,031,419 19,724,887 (437,453) 19,287,434
RESULT E
Segment result DIBEE 831,891 (78,788) 753,103 (12,828) 740,275
Finance costs WEER (354,558)
Share of result of SE—RBELNF)
an associate #i5 18,256
Unallocated expenses ROERAZ (28,985)
Unallocated other gains &k A ELE fr iz
and losses LER 1,677
Profit before tax BEDER 376,565
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the JES A @R ERNE B ST RA
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit [ e DEEREFIERDBLP RITHE IR A
represents the profit earned by each segment without BIREEEHS  BMBEER - 95 —RBBEA
allocation of central administration costs including directors’ RIEELRITESR T EANEEBEZIHNZE(E
salaries, finance costs, share of results of an associate and B) o AREZLBERREREADEE
gain (loss) on fair value changes of derivative financial BRI RIEMETE O o

instruments. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Amounts included in the STEOREENRRE
measure of segment results: & EE

(Reversal of) allowance for FEREE (BE) F5E
inventories, net (BIASHEK )
(included in cost of sales)

Depreciation (including amounts 3T & (BEEFEE AL
capitalised in inventories) Z&%)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ FEEENTE

Loss on disposal/write off of HeE MEE  BE
property, plant and equipment Nkt 2 EiE

(Reversal of) impairment losses ~ JBEi{Z B L= T RE
under ECL model, net &8 (B0 ) F 5

6. HWEHE)

HibEp
BE-_Z_=%+-A=+—HLEE

Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
mam 5
HRES Ba
HK$°000 HK$°000
FTET THET

BTEREM
HK$°000
TR

(42,111) 8,693 (33,418)
1,120,433 236,961 1,357,394
58,325 3,122 61,447
72,930 1,622 74,552

(2,277) 107 (2,170)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Amounts included in the TEOBEEMEE
measure of segment results: SR

Allowance for inventories, net FERE TR
(included in cost of sales) (FIASHERKA)

Depreciation (including amounts  #E& (BiFEFEE KL
capitalised in inventories) 2 &)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {#AEEETE
Loss on disposal/write off of HE s mE - MR

property, plant and equipment KERtE 2 EiE
Reversal of impairment losses ~ FEHR{E 1B ER T RE
under ECL model, net BB BT R

BE-_E__F+-A=t—-HLEFE

Electronic

LCD consumer
products products
GG e
BB E o RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FATT

Consolidated

RUREREm
HK$'000
THAT

12,042 20,406 32,448
1,291,812 259,501 1,651,313
68,439 3,687 72,026
27,335 - 27,335
(34,723) (1,017) (35,740)

Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are
not regularly reviewed by chief operating decision maker.

HROBREERBBY AT RLEREE
EREN HUBRBEXFEERAR -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers by location of customers
and (ii) the Group’s non-current assets by location of assets.

SERE (2

TRE () A REREF TR BRI
BEP WS (i) NEEIREEMEE D
HIFEREVEEMERL -

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

INBEF FRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ZE_= —E-4F —ZT_= —E - F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHTT FATT FATT

|
The PRC F 10,133,308 13,628,016 15,627,827 17,056,286
South Korea [Ea) 1,147,860 1,421,249 = -
Hong Kong BB (I fE1)

(place of domicile) 1,387,901 1,272,129 28,604 24,049
Japan =N 318,483 421,023 = -
Europe BN 948,475 1,024,276 5 6
Vietnam fit1=a] 98,564 105,538 - -
North America JEZEM 177,047 272,579 666 665
South America g =M 245,475 278,880 = -
Taiwan =y 75,015 217,099 - -
Others Efb 1,056,015 746,645 - -

15,588,143 19,287,434 15,657,102 17,081,006
Notes: HisE -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in
Europe and others, no individual countries are material and hence
separate disclosure is not required.

(i) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTPL, deferred tax
assets and rental deposits.

Information about major customers

No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group in both years of 2022 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « BZ_—Z-=Ft+_A=+—HIFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HftukA
2023 2022
—E-= —E__F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FETT
Other income includes: HEmR A :
Government grants (Note 39) BT R BE (B9 5E39) 52,044 169,064
Compensation income EREULA 3,175 1,380
Interest income FIE YA 21,556 20,637
Rental income with fixed monthly rental  [EF A2 SUA 19,478 17,820
Other service fees HirisE 10,979 12,091
Sundry income HIFI A 2,305 13,092
109,537 234,084
8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 8. HMIEK RN

2023 2022
—E_-= —E-_F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FH 7 FET

Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE MEEE  BE &R

plant and equipment 218 (74,552) (27,335)
Gain (loss) from changes in fair value of ~ REZUAFEBEVEZ SREE
financial assets at FVTPL AFEEEZBWE (F8) 531 (844)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of MTEeHMIEAFEEES
derivative financial instruments, net (E18) Wi ) F 58 (222) 1,577
Net foreign exchange gain HNGE Wy 2 )RR 56,003 26,680
(18,240) 78
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. HM¥EH
2023 2022
—E=-= —ET_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FHTT
Interest on bank and other borrowings HRITREMERZFE 362,866 309,345
Interest on bonds payable ERESHZFE = 13,263
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBZFA 7,007 15,938
Interest on deferred consideration in EREWE S-S5 R
relation to acquisition of additional equity 7 IELEA(E 2 FIE (KsF20)
interest in Truly RS (note 20) 19,570 -
Interest on deferred consideration in ARBIBEFEMNZRERE
relation to acquisition of Truly HZ ZHE - 16,012
389,443 354,558
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10.

104

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FRiSMBAX

2023 2022
—E_= —F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Current tax: ZHAFRIE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax A {R S FTIS R 72,252 54,124
Other jurisdictions H i Al EmER 1,252 1,056
73,504 55,180
Withholding tax (Note) TEHL (MI5E) 612 551
74,116 55,731

(Over)under-provision in prior years: BEFE (GREERE) BETRT
The PRC A (71) 520
Deferred tax (see note 32) FEIEFETE (R FI7E32) 14,904 1,113
Income tax expense for the year REETEHFEY 88,949 57,364

Note: The withholding tax for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 were provided on the interest income of intercompany loans
received from the PRC subsidiaries.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5%. The Directors consider the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Income tax arising in the PRC and other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, PRC
subsidiaries qualified as Hi-Tech Enterprise or eligible to enjoy
the western Region Preferential Income Tax policies are
entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income tax. The tax rate of
the other PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the "EIT
Law of PRC"”) and the Detailed Implementation Rules,
distribution of the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
since 1 January 2008 to holding companies incorporated in
Hong Kong is subject to the PRC withholding tax at the
applicable tax rates of 5%.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. PR (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the NERZFEHATREGEm NEMEE
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or Wasgk 2 MADE A2 EARAT -

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Profit before tax T A& 249,385 376,565
Less: share of result of an associate B bR A EE (46,802) (18,256)
202,583 358,309
Tax at the average income tax rate of B HMEHE1841%
18.41% (2022: 20.13%) (Note i) (ZE==%F:20.13%)
ARE (P EED 37,286 72,112
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR ST 2 B &
for tax purpose 18,198 9,320
Tax effect of income not taxable BEFRBRA Z B 72
for tax purpose (22,860) (16,659)
(Over)under-provision in respect of BEFE (RERE) BETR
prior years (71) 520
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTGSER ST E 119,153 58,471
Utilisation of tax losses previously ) A 5T B AR R A 5 18
not recognised (29,249) (28,809)
Withholding tax on undistributed R BB /& A IR 73 Ik &
earnings of PRC subsidiaries Z TEHOFL 3,338 16,974
Withholding tax on interest income FEBUWA ZFEHIF 612 557
Tax relief related to additional tax R BFTEAMTRY AT
deduction on research expenses BIMOTE 2 TS &R
incurred (Note i) (MEii) (37,458) (55,116)
Income tax expense for the year REESHFASZ 88,949 57,364
Notes: PiE
(i) The average income tax rate for the years ended 31 December (i) HE - =N _"FT-_—F+-A=+—H
2023 and 2022 represents the weighted average tax rate of the IFEE 2 FEHFREMRIERER G MA@
operations in different jurisdictions on the basis of the relevant BRFNABEREZMETE 2 TR REER
amounts of profit before tax and the tax rate of the relevant entities EREZ MBEFRR -

for the year.

(i) Pursuant to relevant law and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries are (i) BIEAEEERER HE_TS_—FK-F
entitled to additional tax deduction on qualifying research and —TF+-A=+—HILFE  REMEARF
development costs expenditures for the years ended 31 December BEREGERMER ARSI ZHBINEBN
2023 and 2022. e
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. XFEERH
2023 2022
—E=-= —F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FaExT F&T
Profit for the year has been arrived AFED MR (GFA)
at after charging (crediting): AN BIBBER
Auditor’s remuneration Z SN &
Audit service ENZARTE 4,800 4,800
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 205 374
5,005 5,174
Cost of inventories recognised as BMRERT 2 FEMRA
expenses 13,641,530 16,974,025
(Reversal of) allowance for inventories, FEEME () 358
net (included in cost of sales) (B ASHERKA) (33,418) 32,448
Research expenses A (PIASHERKA)
(included in cost of sales) 657,738 795,989
Depreciation of property, WE BB MREITE
plant and equipment (including amounts  (BIEEEFEERNbL 2 &5E)
capitalised in inventories) 1,357,394 1,651,313
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 61,447 72,026
Salaries and other benefits e kHEAMER
Staff costs, inclusive of directors’ BINA  BIEESHe
remuneration (note 12) (FfizE12) 1,440,809 1,713,326
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFET IR
scheme 117,839 170,433

1,558,648 1,883,759
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTHARME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, BIEER FT B R A RSN EEERNES
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is RiTEEE M T -
as follows:
2023 —E-=F
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) BUITEE
Wong Cheung
Lam Pong Chun Wing
Wai Wah James Cheung Total
wEE BEHE REH wam
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TET
Fees e - - - -
Other emoluments: HibEiS -
Salaries and other benefits HeRhEMmET 3,970 1,272 1,439 6,681
Performance related HERBAN
incentive payments (Note i) (P 5Eii) 8,323 = 120 8,443
Contributions to retirement RINEFIF B
benefit scheme - 36 18 54
Sub-total INat 12,293 1,308 1,577 15,178
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above LR AITES e TR ARSE
were mainly for their services in connection with the MEIBAR R RAEEEHRIZ MR
management of the affairs of the Company and the 7S o
Group.
(b) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (b) FEHITES
Dai
Song Cheng Yun
Bei Bei (Note i) Total
REH (D) “m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TER
Fees ik - - -
Other emoluments: Hipie
Salaries and other benefits H48 REMER 1,192 1,107 2,299
Performance related incentive HRAE e
payments (Note i) (PzEii) 154 154 308
Contributions to retirement benefit RIMEFFTEMER
scheme 13 13 26
Sub-total INEF 1,359 1,274 2,633
The non-executive directors’ emolument shown above i RIERTTEE S T E AR
was mainly for their service as a director of the MEEAR QAR ESRHRERSEZME -
Company.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTHERME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2023 (Continued) —E=5#H)
(¢) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS () BIIHMITEE
Chung Ip Cho Cheung
Kam Ting, Heung Wai Yin,
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Wilson Total
RN 8= B REE “m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT THET TR
(Note iii)
(Bt &t iii)
|
Fees B 264 240 172 138 814
Other emoluments: Hie
Salaries and other benefits %4 REEF| = - - - -
Performance related ARBAE 7 ®E

incentive payments = = - - -
Contributions to retirement  EAREFIE 22

benefit scheme - - = = =

Sub-total =y 264 240 172 138 814
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments T RBNIERMITES e £ E
shown above were mainly for their services as directors BREREFRA AR EESRREHRGE

of the Company. & -

HK$°000

THT
|

Total for all directors in 2023 TR =FRREEEAR 18,625
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTREREME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2022 —E_—
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) HITES
Wong Cheung
Lam  Pong Chun Dai Wing
Wai Wah James  Cheng Yun Cheung Total
MR =& HKE OR SRR B35
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THx TEx TAET AT
(Note i)
i)
|
Fees ik - - - - -
Other emoluments: HitE %
Salaries and other benefits %4 REEF| 4,024 1,272 1,173 1,380 7,849
Performance related RBERBE Y B
incentive payments (P&
(Note ii) 9,925 300 628 915 11,768
Contributions to retirement  E{REFIEH 2] 4t 2x
benefit scheme - 36 13 18 67
Sub-total et 13,949 1,608 1,814 2,313 19,684

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the

ERFATATEEZHMETERRSE
HEEARBARAEEEHERER
B2 -

Group.
(b)  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (b) FEBITES
Song
Bei Bei
KEEB
HK$'000
FHEIT
Fees e -
Other emoluments: Hip s -

Salaries and other benefits Fe REMBEF 1,253

Performance related incentive payments BRI EMG 2 828 (MFEiD)
(Note ii) 395
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RIREFIEF B FR 13
Sub-total NEE 1,661

The non-executive director's emolument shown above
was mainly for his service as a director of the Company.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTREREME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2022 (Continued) —ERF(HE)
(¢) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS () BIIHMITEE
Chung lp Cho
Kam Ting, Heung
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Total
§EER = BRI FEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FABTT FBTT TATT TATT
Fees we 264 132 132 528
Other emoluments: HEiie :
Salaries and other e MEMBEF
benefits - - - _

Performance related HRIFEZ HE

incentive payments - - - _

Contributions to RUREFET B
retirement
benefit scheme - - - -
Sub-total N 264 132 132 528
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments TR BYIRITEEC S EE
shown above were mainly for their services as directors BEERETRARAFEERIEHRY
of the Company. 2B -
HK$'000
T
Total for all directors in 2022 —E_ _FrEEEEt 21,873
Note i: Dai Cheng Yun was re-designated from an executive Wizt B ERPNITESHT AEIENTE
director to a non-executive director with effect from 28 E HE-=ZFNA-TN\HEL
August 2023. B o
Note ii: The performance related incentive payments are based on fizEi: BERBHBZEBLDIBREHE-Z
the remuneration approved by the remuneration T=EER-E-—_F+-A=+—H
committee for the years ended 31 December 2023 and IFFEESFMHEE e EsMEET -
2022.
Note iii: Cheung, Wai Yin Wilson was appointed as independent Mizxiii: REBAEEZEFABIIERITTE
non-executive director with effect from 25 March 2023. E HE-_ZFZA-tHHBEAE
R o
Mr. Lam Wai Wah is also the Chief Executive of the MEELEENARNRAITHREAR  #
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include REXEEBEZHESBIEFIESITHE
those for services rendered by him as the Chief HEFRHERE ZES -
Executive.
Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors BE-_ZE-_=—FEK-_F-_—F+_-f
waived any emoluments during the years ended 31 =+—RHIFEE #BETREeH ST
December 2023 and 2022. MEFERERBE A E -
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included four (2022: four) directors and the chief executive,
details of whose remunerations are set out in note 12 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one
(2022: one) highest paid employee who is neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

LEERTFHER

TR AEBLREEHMEREENA(Z
ToF MR)EERTHRAEH  EE
FHEEN EXHME 12 FR BT —R(Z
T —R)RFEFETIFARFITH
mEzREHEEZHESFBENOT

2023 2022
—=E_= B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF 1,798 1,678

Performance related incentive payments B2 IFEME 7 #8545 150 280
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRAEFIET B R

scheme 18 18

1,966 1,976

The highest paid employee’s (2022: one employee) SaHMEE(ZE-—F: —ZEE)BE

emoluments were within the following bands:

ZEENTF

2023 2022
—E_=F —E - F
Number of Number of

employee employee

BEHE BE2HE

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 78 7L % 2,000,000 7 7T 1 1

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors, chief executive or the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

-z
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14.

112

DIVIDENDS 14. &R
2023 2022
=== —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders RARERRERENFEANHER
of the Company recognised as BAIK -
distribution during the year:
2023 Interim — HK5 cents (2022: —T-=FFhH — ZRKR5EI
2022 interim — HK5 cents) per share —EoFF
R HE — 578l) 158,055 163,612
2022 Final — HK5 cents (2022: TR FRE— 5L
2021 Final — HK5 cents) per share —E_F:ZE—F
RE — 58L) 158,055 164,461

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK5 cents
(2022: HK5 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount
of HK$158,055,000 (2022: HK$158,055,000), has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject to
approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general
meeting.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BERET
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on FREARRBFTIRE TSR E

the following data:

Earnings B F
2023 2022
—E-= - =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Earnings for the purposes of basic BUGTESREARZF 2 BT
earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to RNARHEE AN RFEEF
owners of the Company 262,799 318,233
Number of shares R & E

Weighted average number of ordinary AUFTESREXREF
shares for the purposes of basic earnings 7 @R ANFE F 19 8x

per share 3,161,105 3,257,189
No diluted earnings per share for both 2023 and 2022 were AR -ZE== “E-oFHEBED R
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue TEBR W_E_=FR T - _FHI
for both 2023 and 2022. B2 GIRETERA o
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16.

114

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold Furniture,

16. MR - BE R W

Construction

land and fixtures and Plant and Motor in
buildings equipment machinery vehicles progress Total
HE+i G- £8
REF ST BRER S HE EEIR ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TAT T THL THT BT
COST B
At 1 January 2022 i
—A—H 5,778,792 2,268,719 19,249,646 40,293 369,732 27,707,182
Currency realignment ~ EHFZ (424,864) (166,941) (1,545,156) (1,888) (38,965) (2,177,814)
Additions NE 10,609 20,308 442,449 566 167,602 641,534
Disposals/write off HE /W - (791) (92,719) (387) - (93,897)
Transfers A - - 138,429 - (138,429) -
At 31 December 2022 RNZZE-—&
+-A=1+—H 5,364,537 2,121,295 18,192,649 38,584 359,940 26,077,005
Currency realignment B EHE (139,233) (55,149) (515,590) (601) 15,042) (725,615)
Additions AE 8,571 58,940 253,948 5,519 171,317 498,295
Disposals/write off {HE /M - (1,475) (185,152) (8,566) - (195,193)
Transfer from construction FEEFEIR
in progress 66,055 676 49,264 448 (116,443) -
Transfer from rightof-use A& B FERELRE
assets (Note) (Fis5x) - - 382,772 - - 382,772
At31December2023 ~ M-E-=F+-F
=1+—H 5,299,930 2,124,287 18,177,891 35,384 399,772 26,037,264
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2022 i —d
—A—H 729,138 1,447,958 9,276,667 36,021 - 11,489,784
Currency realignment B % (49,585) (111,672) (761,265) (1,618) - (924,140)
Provided for the year FERE 166,486 135,421 1,257,945 1461 - 1,551,313
Eliminated on disposals/ ~ (H& /Hs%t &
write off - (388) (62,225) (376) - (62,989)
At31December2022  W-Z-—F+-H
=t+—H 836,039 1,471,319 9,711,122 35,488 - 12,053,968
Currency realignment S FE (19,274) (39,503) (275,116) (527) - (334,420
Provided for the year EERE 163,474 128,804 1,072,746 2,370 - 1,357,394
Eliminated on disposals/ & /#5454
write off - (767) (107,636) (8,489) - (116,892)
Transfers from right-of-use FAEBFRAELE
assets (Note) i) - - 149,040 - - 149,040
At31December2023 ~ R-Z-=F+-A
=t+-H 970,239 1,559,853 10,550,156 28,842 - 13,109,090
CARRYING VALUES BHEE
At 31 December 2023  RZZE-=F+-f
=f+-H 4,329,691 564,434 7,627,735 6,542 399,772 12,928,174
At 31 December 2022  WZZE--F+-R
=t+-A 4528498 649976 8481527 3,09 359940 14,023,087
Note: During the year ended 31 December, 2023, certain plant and Mz - HE—_ZTE-—=F+-_F=+—HIFE K&

machinery under finance leases with original cost of
HK$382,772,000 and accumulated depreciation of HK$149,040,000
were acquired by the Group and recategorised from right-of-use
assets to property, plant and equipment upon early repayment of
the outstanding lease liabilities of HK$46,392,000.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16. ¥% * BRI (&)

The cost of leasehold land and buildings is depreciated over HETHRIEFT Z AN AE GE A +EE
forty years or the terms of the respective leases, whichever Moy R EFAEFE (RS E AE)ITE -
is the shorter, using the straight-line method.

The other items of property, plant and equipment, other than HaE - BEMREEE (FEEZTEKRIN
construction in progress, are depreciated on a reducing ABREBIERLE AT FRFEITE -

balance method at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% to 20% Rffh - HBREE 10% £ 20%

Plant and machinery 11% to 15% W MR 1% ZE15%

Motor vehicles 25% to 30% RE 25% £ 30%
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EHESE

Leasehold Plant and
land Buildings machinery Total

HE L BT HERHEESR At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THETT THETT THETT

As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZE=-=F+=A

=+—H
Carrying amount BRHEE 557,027 1,213 41,328 599,668
As at 31 December 2022 WHK=-T=-—f+=HA
=+—H
Carrying amount BRHE 584,037 2,129 328,894 915,060
For the year ended BE-ZT-=%+=AH
31 December 2023 =+—HLEE
Depreciation charge WweELE 14,062 862 46,523 61,447
For the year ended BE-_Z-_—_+—-A
31 December 2022 =+—HLEE
Depreciation charge WELH 20,470 2,654 48,902 72,026
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
Expense relating to short-term leases B REHRAE Y 4,974 5,929
Total cash outflow for leases BEZBR e RN (68,116) (158,681)
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 3,204 3,653
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17.

116

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices and plant and
machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 13 months to 5 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands.
The leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately as the payments made can be
allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various
offices and plant and machinery. As at 31 December 2023
and 2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.
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18. GOODWILL 18. g
Other
immaterial
acquisition
Acquisition of
of Truly HZ businesses Total
Wi HEEKX
EFEM g0 a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET T
COST AR
At 1 January 2022, R-_ZE-_—F—H—H"
31 December 2022 and 2023 TECCER-TEC=F
+=-—A=+—H 669,559 413 669,972
IMPAIRMENT wE
At 1 January 2022 and RZE-_—F—A—AK
31 December 2022 - =#%+=ZA=+—H (82,135) - (82,135)
Impairment loss recognised REANERRERE
during the year (53,424) - (53,424)
At 31 December 2023 W-ZB_=F+_A=+—H (135,559) - (135,559)
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 RZZE_=F+-A=+—H 534,000 413 534,413
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEZZF+=-A=+—H 587,424 413 587,837
19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 19. 7 Bk {E A &
For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill arising on M I8 B ENEMNFELN S
the acquisition of Truly HZ as set out in note 18, goodwill has BEARME - AEE 5B T UEEFIEMN
been allocated to the underlying CGU which represents Truly EBEEMREEMNEMNNEBR SELSA
HZ in existence at the time of acquisition of Truly HZ which is (GtAR LB REEDLDER) o

included in LCD products segment.

In addition to goodwill above, right-of-use assets, property, b EIN ELABRESRENFERHES
plant and equipment that generate cash flows together with E -YE BENMEGERMABERE Nt
the related goodwill are also included in the cash-generating ANBSEAESBMN - LAMERERE °

unit for the purpose of impairment assessment.
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19.

118

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of Truly HZ
was HK$4,278,848,000, which has been determined based
on a value in use calculation. The calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-year period (2022: 5-year period)
and pre-tax discount rate 15.63% (2022: 16.11%). Truly HZ's
cash flows beyond the 5-year period (2022: 5-year period) are
extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate (2022: 2%). This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the industry. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin,
such estimation is based on Truly HZ's past operating
performance and management'’s expectations for the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, due the poor
market demand and drastic drop of the selling price of the
LCD products of Truly HZ in the first three quarters, resulting
in a net loss. The directors consider that the market demand
and selling price of LCD products showed the sign of
recovery starting from the last quarter of 2023 but still need
some time to be fully recovered. Accordingly, based on the
impairment assessment, the directors of the Company have
determined that an impairment amounting to HK$53,424,000
(2022: Nil) be recognised in the profit or loss against the
goodwill related to Truly HZ. No other write-down of the
assets of Truly HZ is considered necessary.

At 31 December 2023, if the discount rate was increase by
0.3%, while other parameters remain constant, the
recoverable amount of Truly HZ would be reduced by
HK$98,001,000 and a further impairment of goodwill of
HK$98,001,000 would be recognised in profit or loss. If the
budgeted sales covering 5-year period were reduced by 2%,
while other parameters remain constant, the recoverable
amount of Truly HZ would be reduced by HK$176,386,000
and a further impairment of goodwill of HK$176,386,000
would be recognised in profit or loss.
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20.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

20.

REELFNER

2023
—s=-=

HK$°000
TR

HK$'000
THETT

Cost of investment — unlisted WERA—3IELET 1,555,710 1,655,710
Share of results PEEE 67,465 20,663
Exchange difference arising on translation & &4 7 HNEZFE (81,037) (38,519)

1,542,138 1,637,854

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration
BiE

Principal
place of
operation

Form of

Name of entity entity

FRERBE

REZR

RREA

Truly (Renshou) High-end Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC
Display Technology Limited
(“Truly RS")
BH(CR) aRBRE Bl i i
ARAR(EHERD
* Rounded to one decimal point for disclosure purpose.
Note:

The Group has significant influence over Truly RS by virtue of the
substantial voting right of 67.1% granted to the Group in the first ten
years since the incorporation of Truly RS in 2018, as stated in the
shareholders’ agreement of Truly RS. Other than the Group, there are two
other shareholders in Truly RS. According to the Articles of Association of
Truly RS, shareholders’ meeting cannot be held without the presence of
either one of the other two shareholders. The Directors consider that the
Group does not have control but only significant influence over Truly RS
under such a term because relevant activities of the associate is directed
through shareholder’'s meeting and any resolutions to be passed in
shareholders’ meetings shall have the consent from either one of the
other shareholders demonstrated by their action of being present in the
meetings. Truly RS is therefore classified as an associate of the Group.

In December 2022, the Group acquired additional 10% equity interest
from another shareholder in Truly RS at a cash consideration of
RMB845,440,000, of which RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$348,000,000) was settled in December 2022 and the remaining
consideration of RMB545,440,000 (equivalent to HK$601,621,000)
carrying interest at 3.3% per annum have been settled during the year
ended 31 December 2023. There is no change of the terms of the Articles
of Association of Truly RS including the voting rights of the shareholders
and Truly RS remains as an associate of the Group.

AEBRBRERRZBZRAFBET

Proportion of Proportion of
ownership interest voting rights
held by the Group held by the Group  Principal activities
FREEEZ FREEEZ
FrERRRLAl RERLA TEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECZE —Z--F “BCZE “E-—F
171%*  17.1%*  67.1%*  67.1%* Developmentand
(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) production of
LCD products
174%*  17.1%*  671%*  67.1%* REREERRE
(i i (i Wi BETSER

—=

© BB AR A -
GEX

BIENCBRRGAME  AREHENCSFE
REEN  RARAEEA T~ \FEMNCHEM
PRIZFERTE T FERET NN ERRERE - BAEE
Sh - ERICERAEMRARR - BREBEEFICSENHAE
MERRMA - MEEEBMABERER —BRENE
ﬁTﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ‘ EERREZGERT  REEE
ENCBABITHIE EEEARESN  ARBEAR
FAIERERDERBRAE T EREMNBRAE L
BIBRRBERALEBBRE S — %%*ij@%ﬂ@é
REE o Bt ENESHERAREEBE QR

RIZZZF+=R  AEEREMNCSHS —BR
RIREBEIMOBDBRE BeREAARE
845,440,000 7T * H & A R# 300,000,000 7T (FHER
348,000,000 T)ER T - —F+ - AKE L&
T B AR 545,440,000 7T (485572 601,621,000 7%
T IRFEFEI3I%FE EREEZZT_=F+=
A=+—BLEFEHS - SR SNEGZERMANE
m(@%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ’ﬁxﬂ%@)lﬂ gy BERCEMNA
AR B EE AR
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20. RBELFINRER (&)
Summarised financial information of Truly RS EACENTEERRE
The summarised financial information below represents AT BB R B IR R A B B 15 i Al
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements B HllBs & R B I IS SRR NPT R & K8 ©

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

Truly RS is accounted for using the equity method in these EFNCENERERE IR N E G5
consolidated financial statements. MARNER -
2023 2022
—ZT_= —E-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
|
Current assets mBEE 2,643,455 1,453,754
Non-current assets IERBEE 10,189,854 10,705,776
Current liabilities RENBE 2,967,287 2,766,561
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 1,348,953 900,890
Revenue WS 2,569,683 2,154,143
Profit and total comprehensive income FERFM MmN A
for the year 273,009 183,319
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB E R B B S AR R R
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate BN RSB mEHENT

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE--
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net assets of Truly RS EIMCEEEFEE 8,517,069 8,492,079
Proportion of the Group's ownership REFREFICED
interest in Truly RS P HERE = LE 51 17.1% 17.1%
The Group's share of net assets KEBDEENNCEEEFE
of Truly RS 1,460,069 1,455,785
Goodwill arising from acquisition U BB RBIME R PTE A E
of additional interest 82,069 82,069
Carrying amount of the Group's interest ~ REBE ST SHERSRREE
in Truly RS 1,542,138 1,537,854
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

21. RIRRLUAFREIIEZEMEE

2023
—rne=

—Eir—==

2022

—E -
HK$'000
FETT

3,689

HK$°000
TRT

Listed equity shares in Hong Kong (Note) A& F 2 x5l (BEr) 4,220

et - ZIREBER —HARZ AR ZARZK
DRBE P BT WIRAFEEIE - RER
FERMBE BN - LRAERZAFEE
BERERESZ MBI M SEANEEE

Note: The investment represents equity interest in a company with its
shares listed on the Stock Exchange, which is stated at fair value.
The investment is held for long-term strategic purposes. The fair
value of listed equity security is determined based on quoted

market bid price available from the Stock Exchange. During the HE_ZT-_=-F+_A=+—HIEFE  QF
year ended 31 December 2023, a fair value gain of HK$531,000
(2022: loss of HK$844,000) has been recognised in profit or loss.

fE{E W 255631,0008 (T - —F: Fi8
844,000/ L) B R IBETER ©

22. INVENTORIES 22. &8®
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-__F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Raw materials R R 943,379 1,109,109
Work in progress ez L0 1,698,681 1,292,889
Finished goods RUAY T 564,870 762,256
3,206,930 3,164,254

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. FEURRRIA R Hfth FE U PR IR

2023
—rmee=

e =

HK$’000
FET

2022

—E - —F

HK$'000
TAT

Trade receivables FEURBRIE 3,349,290 3,187,325
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EREKEE (46,637) (49,324)
3,302,653 3,138,001

Other receivables, deposits and HhEWEIE - e RIBN IR

prepayments 274,452 299,718
Total trade and other receivables JE Y BR T8 % EL B W BB 48 RE 3,577,105 3,437,719
Less: Rental deposits shown under B ERBEEMAIER S

non-current assets (256) (79,922)
Amounts shown under current assets BB EFTRIE 3,576,849 3,357,797
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23.

122

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, 31 December 2022 and 1 January
2022, the gross amount of trade and bills receivables from
contracts with customers (including trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI (note 24)) amounted to HK$3,968,399,000,
HK$4,177,970,000 and HK$5,317,541,000 respectively.

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 120 days
to its trade customers.

Included in the other receivables are deposits paid to
suppliers of HK$99,647,000 (2022: HK$106,115,000) and the
remaining balances mainly represent the prepayments to
suppliers and operating expenses and various refundable
deposits paid for rental, utility and other operating purposes.

The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LA TR E

23.

FEM AR IR R Hofth FE M 3R IR (42)

RZZEZ=F+=A=+—H ===
+ZA=+—BER=ZZE==_F—HF—H XK
BREFPANBIBEREERERER(BER
Eme2mkaEl A FEENERZ BURERTE &
FEUEE IR (MI7E24) #8585 7| £3,968,399,000
7 7T~ 4,177,970,0005% 7T ) 5,317,541,000
BT o

AEBHKTHESEFZEEHRNT3I0E
120 RS -

EmERKREARRENHERZS
99,647,000 L (=T = =4 : 106,115,000
BIL) KRBT EHREZERBNEERFRIER
EERAY  URAHRS ARAEEREME
BEARMYNNSHEINRELRS -

K o A7 0 A AR L B RO DA S 2
I 2 M SRR S A -

2023
—ZE-=

HK$’000

F# 7

237

2022

—_FE-=
HK$'000
FET

2,260

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period, net of the allowance for credit losses at the
reporting date:

REEHZEBBERR(RREMREZERER
HIZP)) RERBRBEFHEZREDITOT

2023
e

—

2022
=

=

HK$'000
THETT

HK$'000
FET

Within 60 days 60 HA 2,245,634 2,075,223
61 to 90 days 61290 H 595,166 500,384
More than 90 days HE90 H 461,853 562,394

3,302,653 3,138,001
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$404,183,000 (2022: HK$552,866,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balance, HK$89,626,000 (2022: HK$118,487,000) has been
past due over 90 days or more and is not considered as in
default based on good repayment records for those
customers and continuous business relationship with the

Group.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables are set out in note 35.

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

23.

24,

FEM AR IR R Hofth FE M 3R IR (42)

R-E-=F+_-A=+—H AEFE
I BRIB 45 4 N B 15 48 AR T {8 /5 404,183,000
Bt (—Z =~ 4 : 552,866,000 7T) 2 J&
RN - ZEFERFEAEBE - BEBH
4 8 H /189,626,000 T (=& = —
118,487,000/ L) B BB B0 A3 A | -
BERZERPZ BRI MFERA
EEMBEBTRERFR  WIERRBIERRK
1 o

R Wt B T e L A USRI 2 R (B AT A R R R
PAPIEESS °

REfMPEE R L FRETRZE
Wor R T B FE MG SR i

2023 2022
—EB-=F

—E-F
HK$'000
AT

HK$°000
FTET

Trade receivables FEURBETE 19,305 255,865
Bills receivables TEUNZ % 599,804 734,780
619,109 990,645

As at 31st December, 2023, total bills received amounting to
HK$599,804,000 (2022: HK$734,780,000) were held by the
Group for future settlement of trade receivables of which
certain bills amounting to HK$464,021,000 (2022:
HK$519,544,000) were further endorsed to suppliers by the
Group. The Group continues to recognise their full carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting periods and details are

disclosed in note 45.

— =

RZEBE-_=F+_A=+—80 K£EEEA
ARAREERKEENERE R A
599,804,000 t( = T = = #F:
734,780,000/ 7T ) + H #1464,021,000 % 7T
(ZZT -~ :519,544,000/8 L) HETZ
BEBRASEEE—FTREEREE - AEE
RRERREEREREL2ERAELFEBER
iz 45458 -
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25.

124

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOMIE (Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI presented based on the invoice date
and issuance date at the end of the reporting year:

24 REMZERSZLLAFREIRZE
WeRRIR B FEML SR 88 ()

RBEFRIREZAHMNETERENNE
fb 2 E Y AR FEESIFR 2 B UKERTE & e
WRIEZBREDITAOT :

2023 2022

—E-= —TCF

Trade Bills Trade Bills
receivables receivables Total receivables receivables Total

PE MR IR ERER &% JEIERIR eSS A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET FHET TET FET
Within 60 days 60 HA 18,381 344,912 363,293 249,359 279,277 528,636
61-90 days 61£290H 924 80,217 81,141 4,600 150,357 154,957
More than 90 days @90 H - 174,675 174,675 1,906 305,146 307,052
19,305 599,804 619,109 255,865 734,780 990,645

All bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of
less than one year.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI are set out in note 35.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AEEWEBRAEZENRE R DR —4F -

REM2EKEIARFEESIKZ BEIRER
KW IR 2 BAE R A BN ESS

25. fTE€MmIR

2022
—E-_F
Assets Liabilities
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Foreign currency forwards YN 32 B 1,894 -
Cross currency swap TN B EHA - (1,030)

The Group entered into certain foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against the depreciation of Renminbi
("RMB") against HK$ and a cross currency swap contract to
hedge against fluctuations in interest rates for certain agreed
periods of time. The Group and the respective banks settled
with reference to the strike price on the predetermined
settlement date on a gross basis as per the contract during
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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26. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO AN ASSOCIATE 26. Bl fHELTRE
Amount due from/to an associate at 31 December 2023 and i .= ::E&_E::E—I—:H =+—H
2022 is derived from normal business activities and is FEH&/HH‘Q‘?%Q IEEE-%E‘%?E@J '
unsecured and interest-free. A credit period of 90 days is W AEER M E S - EUEEE AR FIB4E T
allowed for the amount due from an associate. The amount ZFE HAEOB R_ZT = ¢ k==
due from an associate is not past due as at 31 December —HF+ZA=+—H EHR—HEBEAF
2023 and 2022. SRIAND FEsg B o

27. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND 27. ZRHBPTER HERFELEEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS B

2023
—rne=

—EiE—==

2022
=

=

HK$'000
TAT

HK$°000
TET

Cash and cash equivalents: ReERBEFHEEER -
Bank balances and cash RITEFRERS 802,291 858,759
Restricted bank deposits ZIRERITFER 582,856 844,894
1,385,147 1,703,653
The Group's bank balances and deposits that are AEBUEREEERNGEEEUINZ T

denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

HK$'000
T

SMEZ SRITHETF RIFRE NG T

JPY
H

HK$
BT
HK$'000
T

uss
e
HK$'000
TAT

RMB

AR®
HK$'000
THAT

As at 31 December 2023 RZEB-=%F
+=-—A=+—H 7,137 62,962 190,016 1,760
As at 31 December 2022 MN-ZE-—4F
+=—A=+—H 8,777 106,247 13,958 1,983
Bank deposits and bank balances carry interest at fixed and EITEARAEETEEYEETEREN F
variable rates respectively which ranged from 0.01% to 001%E313%( = FE — — F:001% =
3.13% (2022: 0.01% to 3.94%) per annum. 3.94%) Z I FENEFIEF B
Restricted bank deposits are to secure bills payables and are FIREBITERAUKIBEANEZE - EE

therefore classified as current assets. The restricted bank
deposits carry fixed interest rate ranged from 1.10% to
1.70% (2022: 0.25% to 1.90%) per annum. The restricted
bank deposits will be released upon settlement of bills
payables.

DEAERPEE - XBRHIRTEIIZEESF
FZE110% E1 70%(_--::¢ 1 0.25%
£1.90%) 58 o LRFIRITF A5 K B
SREERRR -

ZFFEH o FAEBRERLA 125

—?



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « HBZ_—_Z_=%+_A=+—HLEFE

28.

126

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

28. EfIIRIAR HA1FE M RIE

RBERARRERAM27 2 BARREME
NRBEZEREDHTAOT

2023 2022
—E-= g
Trade Bills Trade Bills

payables payables Total payables payables Total

JE Wi R 1R ERER ast FEARBRTE EWEE CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THERT TET THBx THT FHT
Within 60 days 60HMA 2,458,940 1,000,437 3,459,377 2,656,845 641,879 3,298,724
61 to 90 days 61E90H 463,837 315,106 778,943 732,309 230,004 962,313
More than 90 days ~ #iB90H 975,872 767,263 1,743,135 72,420 1,526,706 1,599,126
3,898,649 2,082,806 5,981,455 3,461,574 2,398,589 5,860,163

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 60 to REESHNEESHNF60290H - KEF

90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
time frame.

Included in other payables are deposits received with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$12,711,000 (2022:
HK$16,632,000), accruals of operating expenses with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$381,013,000 (2022:
HK$429,558,000), payables for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment with aggregate amount of
HK$252,069,000 (2022: HK$229,433,000), dividend payable
of HK$1,258,000 (2022: HK$1,258,000), consideration
payable of Nil (2022: HK$615,256,000) and government
grants as detailed in note 39.

At 31 December 2023, other payables of HK$26,697,000
(2022: HK$47,579,000) relating to acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which will be settled in 2025 (2022:
2024) or after according to the contract terms and are
included in other payables classified as non-current liabilities.

The Group's trade and bills payables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LB TTEHE
Denominated in JPY AR EFHE

EHEEE SRR EIERE - UEERNME
BRI FrA BN RA -

Efb R IEEERREESS$12,711,000
BT (T = — 4 16,632,000 ) 22 W
%4 BREE/A381,013,0008 0 (=&
T~ T4 :429,558,000/8 T ) 2 EFH R L B
- 48%8/5252,069,000/8 T (=2 - — 4 :
229,433,000/ 70) 2 st EEYIZE - RE MR
52 FER 5T 1,258,000 (T - =
F 11,258,000 L) ZIERNKRE - E(=ZF
— —4F : 615,256,000,8 7T ) Z FEH (B K B
FE 39 FF A K BRI A o

R-ZB-_=F+_"A=+—8" BHKEY
X BELRXRBAEBNEMEN KA
26,697,000/ T ( =& = = 4 : 47,579,000
BT BRBEANEFIN _ZE_AF(=F
P CECOF) R REE  WEEA
DERRBIERB B ENE M EN TR -

AEBNFHEEERNEEBEININZER
JMEZ ENRERENREEIINT

2023 2022
—E_= —=E_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHR FHT
24,542 30,064
50,757 59,298
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. AR
The amounts represent advance payment from customers. ZEFREBEFPEMNIE - KREE RPN
The Group typically receives a 50% deposit on acceptance of SHEIERAETAEARERRZER
manufacturing order and remaining 50% deposit before WELB0% 2 5] & » I 7 3~ 2 n A U B &4
delivery of products for customers assessed to be lower T50% °
creditability.
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December He T -_=FN_T__F+-A=+—
2023 and 2022 included the whole amount of contract AEFERRZBEBREFV E2EE0E
liabilities at the beginning of the year. There was no revenue F-HE_E-_=FN_ZFT-_—_F+_-H
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 and ZT—HLEFEBRRZREWES RN EF
2022 that related to performance obligations that were ERITZBHER -
satisfied in prior year.
As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to R-ZE-_—_F—H—B A48 EA
HK$333,542,000. 333,5642,000/8 7T °
The decrease in contract liabilities balance as at 31 December R-ZE-_=F+-_A=1+—H AHaEH
2023 is mainly due to decrease in advances received from B EFBERNFRATIKZEERIURD -
customers during the year.
30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. BITRHEMMBR
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Bank loans RITER 5,781,376 6,576,952
Trust receipt loans ERBUEER 877,393 616,013
Other loans HEMEI 16,667 72,562
6,675,436 7,265,527
Secured Vi - 278,899
Unsecured it 6,675,436 6,986,628
6,675,436 7,265,527
The Group's bank and other borrowings AREBUEBEBREREDGEEE
that are denominated in currencies other PAONZ BHEEBIME 2 $R1T R
than the functional currencies of the HAERET| T
relevant group entities are set out below:
Denominated in HK$ B TTEHE 2,422,502 2,230,393
Denominated in RMB AAR®EHAE 54,850 -
Denominated in JPY LAH EsHE - 4,291
Denominated in USD LAZETTEHE - 153,940
TEC=FFHR o FAEBRERAR 127
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30.

128

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 30.

Bank borrowings

BITRAMER &)
RITEN

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE--
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Carrying amount repayable*: FESBREE *
Within one year R—FRN 4,210,409 4,715,971
More than one year, but not exceeding —FEERRMFENR
two years 1,437,681 561,432
More than two years, but not exceeding MFERERLRREFER
five years 133,286 1,299,549
5,781,376 6,576,952
Carrying amount of borrowings that MEEBEMTESEKRERESR
contain a repayment on demand EHREREE 2 ERZEAE :
clause (shown under current liabilities)
but repayable:
Within one year R—FR 877,393 616,013
6,658,769 7,192,965
Less: Amount included under current B FIRIRBAER 2 A
liabilities (including bank loans (BHRAFRERERGHK
with a repayable on demand ZBITER)
clause) (5,087,802) (5,331,984)
Amount due after one year shown under ERBIBEMR RN —FEEIH 2
non-current liabilities I 1,570,967 1,860,981
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Other borrowings

BITRAMER &)
HAt &K

2023 2022
—E_= —=E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
Carrying amount repayable*: FESBREE *
Within one year R—FR 16,667 55,895
More than one year, but not exceeding —FEERRMFENR
two years - 16,667
16,667 72,562
Less: Amount included under current B FIRIRBAES 2 A
liabilities (16,667) (55,895)
Amount due after one year shown EREBBERTIN—FE
under non-current liabilities S8R 2 BB - 16,667

* The amount due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out
in loan agreements.

Total amounts of bank and other
borrowings included under:

SR AT B IR Z8RT1T &
HAO R

© BISRENREEA BRI  EE R RS
s -

Current liabilities mEAaE 5,104,469 5,387,879
Non-current liabilities EREEE 1,570,967 1,877,648
6,675,436 7,265,527

The Group’s bank borrowings included fixed-rate borrowings
of approximately HK$1,043,174,000 (2022: HK$646,782,000)
which carry effective interest rates ranged from 2.78% to
5.00% per annum (2022: 2.78% to 5.00%) (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates). The remaining Group’s
bank and other borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which
carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") or Benchmark Loan Rate issued by the National
Interbank Funding Center (“Benchmark Loan Rate"”) plus
certain basis points. The range of effective interest rates is at
2.67% to 7.46% (2022: 1.58% to 7.02%) per annum.

REE 2 RITEREIE AE491,043,174,000
B (ZZ - 4 646,782,000 7T) 2 E
BED BBREMENT2.78%E5.00%(=
T :278% £ 5.00%) (TMHERAH
FE) - KEBZ HBRBITREMETRE A
FEER  REBRITRAERS([EBRT
BEFE ) k2 ERTHEEZEFEPOEM
RO B SREER R ([ EEEHF X ) na F&
BB BEEMNENTFNE267%E
7.46% (ZEB 4% 1 158% EF7.02%) °
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30.

130

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
Trust receipt loans

The Group has entered into certain trust receipt loans with
banks. Under these arrangements, the banks pay suppliers
the amounts owed by the Group in advance of the original
due dates at a discount offered by the suppliers. The Group's
obligations to suppliers are legally extinguished on settlement
by the relevant banks. The Group then settles with the banks
between 30 and 120 days after settlement by the banks with
interest ranges from 6.5% to 7.2% (2022: 1.6% to 6.5%) per
annum, which may be extended beyond the original due
dates of respective invoices. The interest rates are consistent
with the Group’s short-term borrowing rates.

Taking into consideration of the nature and substance of the
above arrangements, the Group presents payables to the
banks under these arrangements as “borrowings” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In the
consolidated statement of cash flows, repayments to the
banks are included within financing cash flows based on the
nature of the arrangements, and payments to the suppliers
by the banks are disclosed as non-cash transactions.

Syndicated term loan

In August 2022, the Group has obtained new syndicated term
loan facilities in Hong Kong amounting to HK$1,360,000,000
and the final maturity date is in August 2025. The syndicated
term loan facilities have been subsequently increased to
HK$1,460,000,000 in February 2023. They are variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest at HIBOR plus 2% per
annum at 31 December 2023. Pursuant to the facility
agreement, it will be an event of default if Mr. Lam Wai Wah
1) does not or ceases to own directly or indirectly 25% of the
beneficial interest in the Company; 2) does not or ceases to
have management control over the Company; or 3) is not or
ceases to be the chairman of the Company. In addition, the
Group is required to comply with the following financial
covenants throughout the continuance of the syndicated term
loan and/or as long as the loan is outstanding:

° the consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less
than HK$800,000,000;

° the ratio of the consolidated net borrowings to the

consolidated tangible net worth shall not be more than
0.75:1, and
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30. |ITREMER &)

BEREBBER

AEBE RTINS TEAKEER R
BzERH  RITIREEEEHRAT - R
JR 7€ B B B A1 A L B S NSRBI FT 45 R K
B o AEBHHERMNETRARBERITEE
BRI IE - AEERRITHEEEI0E120
KERITHEE - FIENTFTEF65%ET7.2%
(CE-"F:16%E65%)  AJLHHESR
BRZENRTEEHA 2% - FIREREER
HAfE AR — B -

ZRI LA LHEERBEERT - AEHE
RERE B BRI 2R S 5% 5 Lk N BT IRTT
RERIR ER] - REERERERT
RELZFOEERRITRENESFARE
Reng |ROAEERNNIIERIERS

ZHHE -

REEMER

RZZEZZF)N\R  AEEREEEGHIR
B F B B 7@k & 1,360,000,0008 T © &1
REHBAA-T-_RAFN\A - RETHERG
BHEN T -_=F= A1£%1,460,000,000
BL - NZE_=ZF+-_A=+—H8 ®#%
BREZEER  ESFRARITEEREM
2% B o IRIBRLE Wk - WMNEZELRET)
THIAEFELIEESMEEEARRGF25% 2
i 2) THNEIEHARREEER
ZHIE K3 T HREERERARERE
BISHEREDN S o Itoh - REBZATIRE
TEHEFRS BB RSB RS AR EE PR
P T ISRE

]

o RE B FFETSF LR 800,000,000 7
G
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 30. MITREMMER )

Syndicated term loan (Continued) SREEHERE)

o the ratio of the consolidated net profit before interest, o BFE - FIE - TEREERSGAF
tax, depreciation and amortisation to the consolidated FBEGAEFNESTHZEAEER
interest expenses shall not be less than 4.5:1. 45:1-°

The financial covenants of the above syndicated term loan LB THERRENP AN EEE

facilities are tested semi-annually on 30 June and 31 HE - BEFRANA=TARtZA=1T—

December throughout the term of the loan. In addition, the HET R - o RZTE_=F+=

remaining non-current bank borrowings amounted to A=+ -—BHRKIFRBHRRITE X

HK$1,241,000,000 as at 31 December 2023 are subject to 1,241,000,000 8 L BB T B RH - K&

certain financial covenants. The Group has complied with BER—E-—=FE+-_HA=+—HB &%

these covenants at 31 December 2023. LR -
31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. #HEA®R
2023 2022
—E-= —EFE_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEAE
Within one year —FER 4,200 94,507
Within a period of more than one year —FRBBIRMERN
but not more than two years 894 43,777
Within a period of more than two years MEZREBERAFA
but not more than five years 275 8,995
5,369 147,279
Less: Amount due for settlement with WoomBBEERTIRNTZEARN
twelve months shown under A 2 R GRIE
current liabilities (4,200) (94,507)
Amount due for settlement after twelve  ZERENE BN+ @B B &R
months shown under non-current 2 EEIRFIR
liabilities 1,169 52,772
The Group's weighted average incremental borrowing rate for NEBHEREMNIETEHEEETIR A
lease liabilities is 7.05% (2022: 7.13%) per annum. FETOS%(ZE-—"F :713%) °

TECFFR e EAEBRERAT 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « HBZ_—_Z_=%+_A=+—HLEFE

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 32. RERARE AR
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T 23N S JIEERIBASROTOT -

financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
—g=-= —ZE--
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T4
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEEE 156,124 156,203
Deferred tax assets EIEFRIE A (47,193) (62,176)
108,931 94,027
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) ERFENMBEFEENERN T ERIERIE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and BEEE) REEZSHNT :
prior years:

Loss
available Undistributed
for offsetting  Accelerated Allowance profits
against future tax for of the PRC Right-of- Lease
taxable profit  depreciation inventories  subsidiaries use assets liabilities

7 RtEE#
RRERH PENELT
BNZER  MEHERE RERRE  AOEEN  EREXE BERE L
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TiEn TiEn TiEn

At 1 January 2022 W_E--£-f-H (154,664 188,365 (56,543) 115,746 - - 92914
Adjustments (Note 2) EE{UEY) - - - - 6,085 (6,085) -
Asat 1 January 2022 A2~ ~%-F-H
(restated) (&) (154,664 188,365 (56,543) 115,746 6,085 6,085) 92,914
(Credit) charge o profitor ~ PEEIEAT (%)%
loss for the year (26,136) 15,908 (5,633) 16,974 (3,576) 3,576 1113
At 31 December 2022 S
t-R=t-H (180,790) 204273 (62,176) 132,720 2,509 (2,509) 94,027
(Credit) charge toprofitor ~ NEE B (K% T
loss for the year (37.479) 37,39 11,646 3,338 (2,160) 2,160 14,904
Asat31December2023 —E-=F+-R
=t-A (218,269) 241672 (50,630) 136,058 349 (349) 108,931
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32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses
arising in Hong Kong amounting to HK$422,312,000 (2022:
HK$460,207,000) available indefinitely for offsetting against
future profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No
deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of these
tax losses arising in Hong Kong due to unpredictability of
future profit streams as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

At 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses
arising in the PRC of HK$4,300,275,000 (2022:
HK$3,644,530,000) and such tax losses can be carried
forward for a period of five years or ten years which are
available for offsetting future profits. At 31 December 2023,
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$1,455,127,000 (2022: HK$1,205,267,000) of such tax
losses in the PRC. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$2,845,148,000
(2022: HK$2,439,263,000) due to unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses arising in
the PRC are losses of HK$262,661,000 (2022:
HK$315,156,000) that will gradually expire until 2028 (2022:
expire until 2027) and HK$2,582,487,000 (2022:
HK$2,124,107,000) that will gradually expire until 2033 (2022:
expire until 2032).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. At 31 December
2023, deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HK$2,910,297,000 (2022:
HK$2,991,786,000) as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

32.

—?

BERRRE AR )

RZEBEZ=F+=-A=+—8 ~£ERE
%Fizxﬁﬁmﬁéﬁﬁmzmzmmﬁ
T(=F = — 4 : 460,207,000/ 7T) *

m%m%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%EFﬂizxxmﬂ
RZEZ=FR_FT__F+=R=1+—
B MERESSELANZSHIESEERERE
ERIBEEE - REAAKRKENRBTAITEA -

R-EBE-_ZF+=-_A=+—H AEERH
Bl 4 2 R B) A BT B 18 & 4,300,275,000
I —F = —4F : 3,644,530,00078 7T )
meEMKEFEAERTR+F XA A
EEARGEN R-ZBE-_=F+=-A4
=+—0 ERZRSEHEEBEETRERE
AE FiTE & B 1,455,127,00008 T (ZE = =
£ 1 1,205,267,00078 7T) ° H&ﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%Wtﬁﬁia
/&5 $82,845,148,000% JjT( — :
2,439,263,000 7 7T ) HERIE HRIE%EE R
.%*X/ﬁﬁﬂuw%z_—ffg E'J E':F' ?EE’]
AERREEBEEBR-ZE-_NFRIZES
(B —F R -T timJ%M@
&5 18262,661,0008 w( = & = = F:
315,156,000 70) & 2,682,487, ooo,%m:
T~ — 4 :2,124,107,0005 7T ) B =
::imL/U%L:§::E-m_$
= ZFRIEE) -

BERBECEMERE BT N\F— A
—HR - AP BNE A R BRI & F AT E Kk
B SZBBNTERR - R_ZE_=F+=A
=+—8 - EREAHBHRET  LELTEH
M E AR ZREBEMNMNE R ZHE
2,910,297,000%% ( = T = = 4F:
2,991,786,000%8 70) {EIRE R A EE - R
& 7N £ [ 75 AL ) 128 1) 98 o) B B = RE A0 B
B IRERTBE NS L Al R SR E B By 2 5 o
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. K=&

Number
of shares

RGEE

Amount

=8

HK$'000
TAT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 per share BRREE.028 Tz LRk

Authorised: VETE

Balance at 1 January 2022,
31 December 2022 and

R—E-_—_#—H—H-
:7::$+ A=+—8xk

31 December 2023 —E2-=F+=-A=+—H
=S 5,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BITNAR
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZEZ—F—A—BH2#&H 3,289,229,398 65,785
Shares repurchased and cancelled EAED e R = e (128,124,000) (2,563)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and 2023 @ R-ZBE-—F N T - =4
T A=+—RH2z#&H 3,161,105,398 63,222

ARRREHITREBHPAA KD ES S EE
ERRANLBRERRFMAL

All the shares issued or repurchased by the Company rank
pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all
respects.

E-—E+-A=+—RHILEE K
N B35 B EE R P [E B8 128,124,000 IR 5 #Y
R fn - EAtAR D A CIEER ey - piukEE
ZEERM BT 42%187,441,0008 TE
W= E ARERP R o

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company HE—
repurchased 128,124,000 of its own shares through the Stock
Exchange. The above shares were cancelled upon repurchase
and the total amount paid to acquire these cancelled shares
of HK$187,441,000 was deducted from equity holder’s

equity.
Number of
ordinary Price per share

Month of repurchase shares BRER Aggregate
and cancelled Bl g Kk sEdE B & repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
EEZEREE RS RIK [EERE L

HK$ HK$ HK$'000

BIT PETT FATT

May 2022 —E--FHA 5,944,000 2.24 1.95 12,859
June 2022 —E-_FXA 5,276,000 2.54 2.20 12,873
July 2022 —E-__F+A 5,768,000 1.90 1.84 10,771
August 2022 —E-_F)NA 5,894,000 1.75 1.74 10,263
September 2022 —E-_FNA 46,124,000 1.70 1.19 64,079
October 2022 —E-—_F+A 9,122,000 1.30 1.26 11,638
November 2022 —E-—_F+—H 49,996,000 1.40 1.1 64,958
Total 1Bt 128,124,000 187,441
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes
30 and 31 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents, and
equity comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. The
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates
with the capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues of the
Company and share buy-backs as well as raising of bank
borrowings.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the
prior year.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

34. BEXRAKBER

AEBETERNERNRRAEEANNER
RERERE R EBRLERRERTE
RERERE AR R

AEBNEARBHELFHE(BEME30
EINnRlEEZEREBERE &K
RekBReSHERR) ME(BEEHITK
R R A ) #ERK

EETHESHEARE BEFERELK
AR EEARBEZ AR LB BINK
B BITARBHBD KRB A RESE
RITIEFRFEEARBEARRE -

REH 2 EERREDEA—FHER -

35. £ TH
a. SBIESE

2023 2022
—E:-= B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHEIT

Financial assets EHEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEHEK AR, CREE 4,714,091 4,960,177

Financial assets at FVTOCI RNEMEEIWEE AR FEBESE

ZERAE 619,109 990,645
Financial assets at FVTPL REZUAFEENERE 2 2EE 4,220 3,689
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA - 1,894
5,337,420 5,956,405

Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost SRR R 13,535,202 14,700,409
Derivative financial instruments TESRmITA - 1,030
13,535,202 14,701,439

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, amount due from/
to an associate, bonds payable, lease liabilities and
derivative financial instruments. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

b. EREAREERRREEK

AEEZIEZSRTIABEXREIR
ThEF RekREeFEEEE  BR
ARIA N B W IR - A 2 E UL
AR FEE IR B EARIA K YK
R REZUAFEEIRZ SR
BE FBARAMEMEMNTE R
TTREAMER - U — B E D
AR EBNES HERENR LT
EEMTA -ZFERTAZHBR
BIEMFEEHIREE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. &#MIAE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (Continued)
The risks associated with these financial instruments BzZEem TAZRER MBIKZE
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set EBRHOBEEHAT - EEEEEIE
out below. The management manages and monitors FRERZERR  WHEREBEERE
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are FEEE R o

136

implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk 3% B B
The Group's activities expose primarily to the financial REE 7 ¥ T BEASFE NINEE
risks of changes in interest rates, foreign currency RBEHES RN A REREE R
exchange rates and change in prices (see below). (RTx0) e
(i)  Foreign currency risk (i) MR
The Group undertakes certain transactions REB2EHETRZAINEETE -
denominated in foreign currencies which are ZEINE BB EEERBRE
different from US$ and RMB, the functional METRARBEAINGERE o

currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group's monetary RiER - LB SEERBI 5
assets, monetary liabilities and inter-group B HPINEEAE s NEBEE
receivables and payables denominated in BE E¥aEREERNARM
currencies other than the functional currency of FEUN TR IB K FE N FIB Z BRE{E 10
the relevant group entities at the reporting date T~

are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

&f& BE
2023 2022 2023 2022

—=E_-= = —=E-= —FE-—

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FRET THIT FTET THETT

The Group KEH

HK$ BT 2,448,938 2,600,554 68,611 124,516
JPY H 55,484 80,546 7,137 12,594
RMB AR 54,850 - 1,750 5,694
usDh T - 452,920 190,016 246,395
Inter-company AT B

balances

HK$ BT 5,883,166 4,515,205 6,761,053 5,733,923
RMB AR 316,835 41,278 1,028,058 1,095,002
usD ETT 480,301 225,039 105,948 194,701
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

35. @MTR#E)
b. THREAREEBSEREK#E)

Market risk (Continued) i R (&)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) pEEEBE ()
Sensitivity analysis HRRE T

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group's profit after tax for the year
in response to reasonably possible change in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
i.e. US$ or RMB to the relevant currencies which
the Group has significant exposure at the
reporting date. Since HK$ are pegged to US$
under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the
management does not expect significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to the exchange rate
fluctuation between HK$ and US$. The Group
mainly exposes to foreign currency risks other

TRETHENERESEER Y
REB(AETHARKE) LA
SERHEAmHEEARRZH
EMAREH R AEES - M
ERAKENFEHIRIB NI PIE
EZBAOES - AR RBHEE
KH|EATET TS EEE
BT e HREMBITEETE
KRE 2 EAINERR - KEH
ERARERTTAININE Z B

than US$.

2023 2022

—E-=F —EF-—
US$/RMB Increase US$/RMB Increase
strengthens (decrease) strengthens  (decrease)
(weakens) in profit (weakens) in profit

Ey 4 xn/

AR gl AREE gl
HFE(RE) ®EMOHED) AEEZE) BNCHDS)
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT T
JPY H 3% 1,183 8% 4,582
(3%) (1,183) (8%) (4,582)
RMB AR 3% (16,109) 8% (71,430)
(3%) 16,109 (8%) 71,430
usD ETT 3% 4,512 8% 15,970
(3%) (4,512) (8%) (15,970)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

EEERS  HRFRZERK
EERRAFAZERE  BREED
B SNE R RN AR -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

138

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, fixed-
rate bank borrowing, lease liabilities and
consideration payable (note 20). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on bank balances and variable-rate bank and other
borrowings (see notes 27 and 30 for details). The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising
from the Group's HK$ and USD denominated
borrowings and the fluctuation of Benchmark
Loan Rate arising from the Group’'s RMB
denominated borrowings. The management
considers the exposure to interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances is insignificant due to the
low interest rate. The Group currently does not
use any derivative contract to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the management of
the Company will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. @I R (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued) 5 AR (&)
(ii)  Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FIEE R (&)
Sensitivity analysis BURE DT

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point
(2022: 100 basis point) increase or decrease is
used which represents management’'s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2022:
100 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
would decrease/increase by HK$45,954,000
(2022: HK$52,864,000).

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from investments in listed equity securities
measured at FVTPL.

Price risk sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risks at the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 15% (2022: 15%) higher/
lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 would increase/decrease by
HK$516,000 (2022: HK$442,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

AN BURE 24T DR F BERTT
BRZF KRR MET ° 22T
IBEERBRERE2FZEERE
HWARWEMHER - NAF]TyER
1008 F(ZF = =4 : 10084 1)
NS  RREBELF
eI A BREEHENZF
fly o

i F = EFH, TE1002F(=
T _F 100%T)  MEATAHE
HMESEFTE  KAEEREE
TR CF+-A=1+—HItF
Bz R%EEFERLD
45,954,000 (=2 = =
52,864,000 7C) °

R B AR
AEERTRANERALTE
B FHRAEEEL Y R
AERER -

Bt RRE T
AT SREDH TR BER R E B
ZBAERERMETE

AR AEBE EF THK15% (=
T —4F:15%) AEE-Z
—=FE+-A=+—HItEEY
BEEFNGERMBEUNRFEE
R eRMEEZ AFEEE
i 4 H0, 38 4> 516,000 7T (=
T~ — 4 1 442,000/87T) °

—=FFR o FEBERAT 139



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 « HE_—_ZE_=F+_A=t+—HIEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

140

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to perform an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group had concentration of credit risk as 9% (2022:
9%) of total trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest trade debtor, which is a company located in the
PRC.

In order to minimise credit risk, the management of the
Group promptly monitors determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other reviewing procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

With respect of credit risk arising from other
receivables, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL individually for significant and
credit-impaired balances and collectively for the
remaining balances. For the collective assessment, the
balances are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal
credit ratings. The Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments, and concluded that credit risk inherent
in the Group’s remaining outstanding other receivables
that are not credit-impaired is insignificant. In addition,
other receivables consist of a large number of
counterparties which do not give rise to significant
concentration of credit risk.
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REEHAEWE S IR ESEKR
THBEBEZI%(ZT-—F:9%) K
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A

REEERRBAESK AEEERE
BREEBEELR FEH#ZRE
fEZREFOETE - NHERRIIRE
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal

credit rating

AEEE R

Group B

B#

Group C

cH

Group D

D

Group E

EX

Description

15

The counterparty has a low risk of default based
on historical repayment record and has a good
reputation

REBEENGS  HFHZENRRRE B
BRRIFBE

The counterparty has higher creditability but
sometime repays after due dates

HFTARRSEE  EEREBRHER

The counterparty usually settles after due date
with a higher risk of default
HFHTRFTRIMARETEE  EHNEARK

n|]|r

53

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

AEBBTAELREERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

CiENTE e

35. @MTR#E)

b. THREAREEBSEREK#E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
AEB AR EERRFATHEERE

AR

Trade receivables

FE W fRE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

EHRHERELR —
BEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHTREEREL —
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHRBEREL —
EEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
THIREGEREL —
BEERE

Amount is written off

MHAREEE

Other financial
assets/other item

HitteEE
Hitd g

12m ECL -
not credit-impaired

NREARREREX —
BEERE

12m ECL -
not credit-impaired
12 A EBERBX —
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHEHEREL —
EEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
PHEHERAELX —
BEERE

Amount is written off

MIHBHEETER
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. £MIRE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RRAKREEBEEREXKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFAMIHAEEBETEREZH
Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL BEIEZeREEMAS ZZER
assessment: fax

External Internal Gross carrying
Notes creditrating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
Wi SHBEEIR ABEETR 12@ANHEHERARX FHAHE
2023 2022

—F—= — i — —/

——= —

HK$'000 HK$'000
8% TER

Financial assets at FVTOCI
REMZEAREALTEEIRZ

tREE
Trade receivables 24 N/A (Note i) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 19,305 255,865
JEUBRIR TEm i) PHBEHEREL (BEER)
Bills receivables 24 A1-Bal N/A 12m ECL 599,804 734,780
EWER oyl NEAEREREX
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBERATEZEREE
Restricted bank deposits 27 A2-Baal N/A 12m ECL 582,856 844,894
RBHIBTER oyl NEAEREREX
Bank balances 27  A2-Bal N/A 12m ECL 802,047 858,397
BRI TER NEAEREREL
Amount due from an associate 26 N/A Group A 12m ECL 8,828 15,154
JEME & A R NER AR NEAEREREX
Trade receivables 23 NA (Note i) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 3,330,238 3,168,095
JEUBRIR TEm i) HBEHEREL (BEER)
Group D Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 19,052 19,230
D PHBEHERBL(EERNE)
Other receivables 23 NA (Note ii) 12m ECL 17,463 103,369
bR TEm GiED) NEARHERER
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. @I R (&)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes:

i For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors which are credit-impaired,
the Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by debtors’
aging.

ii. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers because these customers consist of a
large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix as at 31 December 2023 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). As at 31 December 2023, the debtors
with credit-impaired amounted to HK$19,052,000 (2022:
HK$19,230,000) are assessed individually, and the rest
of debtors amounted to HK$3,330,238,000 (2022:
HK$3,168,095,000) are assessed under a provision
matrix based on internal credit rating.

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
AT

EYFRETE  NEBCRAEEME
BERRE IR EOER2HEME
REKRTEEERER - REREERE
2 YRR+ A5 B ER P 4% B YR 5K
ZIREBRDBZBBEMEEZFRELZ
EHERBEX -

i. RABEERBERMS  AREEA
BEER T HERRR B TS HERIAR
BEREEM -

EAAEEFERREEESY R
REBFEBEBIRFZBRERTHER
FZRE REAZEEFPTEZSA
EBFHERARARBEZNHERS  MiZ
B FHRRREPRIEA LIEREEH
NRzeen o THRIRHEEBREWKRE
EZZEERBRER  ZEERTR
BR-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HFA
HERERABX (B EERE) 2 &
BEEETTFGE R _=F+=
A=+—H " A&%19,052,000/8 7T (=
T~ — 4 119,230,000 7T) O HIRE
BEURE 2 B AR R 0B Bl 7 T 5 -
ifn £ #4 & #03,330,238,000/8 L (- &
— — % :3,168,095,000% JT ) Z fE W
RRBERADEETRREREE
BT R o
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. &@MIAE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount FREiEE

2023
—E-=

Average Trade Loss Average Loss
lossrate  receivables  allowance loss rate i al\ovvance

THEER  BUWEE  BRRE  TOEET
HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THET
Current (not past due) BN (R ) 0.36% 2,851,956 10,267 065% 2,611,248 16,973
1-60 days past due BEaf1Z60H 0.48% 276,201 1,326 0.72% 399,203 2,874
61-90 days past due BRE61Z908 2.48% 36,270 899 4.64% 33,131 1,537
More than 90 days past due  2#EE90 LA+ 9.10% 165,811 15,093 7.00% 124,513 8,710
3,330,238 21,585 3,168,095 30,094
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on {hEtE 18 R TH iR FE IR BR S R FE =T FF B
historical observed default rates over the expected life Vqéﬁﬂfz}ﬁﬁ SVBRENRETHE
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking A7 gL BB R B AR 2% Bl a]
information that is available without undue cost or ZE SCREHERERAZ - E1BE
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by THBSBEDEURES RIS TERE
management to ensure relevant information about WERR Z MR E R BRIER

specific debtors is updated.

In the opinion of the Directors, the trade receivables at EERA REBEHREBHI0H
the end of the reporting period which have been past J;ZFEH&EEIEB%E’\\M#E}EZEKZ-}
due over 90 days are not considered as in default based BEREEREEERNEEFE CER
on good repayment records for those customers and FREEAEM TR AHB/RFNIE o

continuous business relationship with the Group.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

35. @MTR#E)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) ERmEaE (i2)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade JE L BRIE R (B s 2 B8
receivables
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HITEH ZHITEHA
FEREBEX SRBEX
(BEERHE) (BEERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T4 7T
As at 1 January 2022 RZE_—_F—AF—H 36,374 642,533 678,907
Changes due to financial WZE-Z—#—H—H
instruments recognised RemIT As|Ez
as at 1 January 2022: )
— Transfer to credit- — EREEERE
impaired (3) 3 -
— Impairment losses — BWRBEERE
recognised 878 152 1,030
— Impairment losses — BB EREREE
reversed (32,789) (30,708) (63,497)
New financial assets originated #7144 & E 26,727 - 26,727
Written off b6t - (588,640) (588,640)
Exchange realignment DEE 3, 5 2 (1,093) (4,110) (5,203)
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-—F
+=ZA=+—8~ 30,094 19,230 49,324
Changes due to financial R-ZE-_=F—H—H
instruments recognised ReBMTHESIBZ
as at 1 January 2023: 2E
— Transfer to credit- —EBREEERE
impaired (1) 1 -
— Impairment losses — BHRRREEE
recognised 3,047 160 3,207
— Impairment losses — B EREBE
reversed (23,965) (65) (24,030)
New financial assets originated #7144 & E 18,653 - 18,653
Written off b6z - (84) (84)
Exchange realignment M H % (243) (190) (433)
As at 31 December 2023 RIE-=4F
+=ZA=+—8~ 27,585 19,052 46,637

T ZFFR o FERNEBRERAE
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are
mainly due to:

35. @MTR#E)
b. THREAREEBSEREK#E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
RREAEME ()
R R (B 5 2 B8 (48)

2023 2022
=== e

—_ = R

(Decrease) increase (Decrease) increase

in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL

2HRMEARA(EY) BN 2HEHEREXOAL)EMN

Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-

impaired impaired impaired impaired

REREFE AREERE  EEERE  ARERAE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FE7 FE7 T T

Trade receivables with FREE586,0005 T
gross carrying amount of EWERE (Z T =%
HK$86,000 (2022: HK$79,000 79,0005 7T ) R 7 K
defaulted and transferred to BREZEEREAE
credit-impaired

New trade receivables with FEBEs

gross carrying amount of 3,012,731,000/ 7T

HK$3,012,731,000 (ZFB-ZF:

(2022: HK$2,899,086,000) 2,899,086,00077T) 2
HEUERIE

Settlement of trade receivables 455 85T %15 /565,000 78 7T
with gross carrying amount of (ZF-—fF:
HK$65,000 30,708,000 7T)

(2022: HK$30,708,000) # IR R 3

(1) 1 (3) 3

18,653 - 26,727 -

- (65) - (30,708)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery or when the trade receivables are long
overdue.

No allowance for impairment of other receivables have
been made in both years.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$4,133
million (2022: HK$4,753 million). For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group generated a net profit of
approximately HK$160 million and generated operating
cash flows of approximately HK$5,283 million. As at 31
December 2023, total cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$802 million were held by the Group
and unutilised bank facilities amounted to approximately
HK$3,207 million were available. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group expects to continue to generate
positive operating cash flows in the coming twelve
months.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet in full its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Group's liquidity position is monitored closely by
the management of the Company.

35. #MIR (A
b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

REBEEER
R-E-—=F+=-A=+—H0 K&
Er RBAGEBLEREEEL41.33
BAETL(ZZT - —F :47563(FET) °
HE_Z-_=-F+-A=+—HBLF
& AEBSBAFN1.60EB TR
RIS EH52.83 (BT - R - &
—=F+ZA=1+—8 X&£EESH
RE& KRS EEWRATELL.02EH T -
mABARITREE 493207 BB T o
EERE ALEBEHAKRT @A
BREELATIMLLESRE -

ARLiAE BEFERAKEKA
BARMBGERTBBUENER A R
REVE 2 BB - Rt - BB
WROBIFELLEEE RS -

AEBZRBHESHRNBARFERE

BRI -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

148

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements regularly
and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group's liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. The management of the
Company also monitors the forecast and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents adequate to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’'s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flow. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial liabilities as at
31 December 2022. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted gross inflows and outflows on
those derivatives that require gross settlement. The
liquidity analysis for the Group's derivative financial
instruments are prepared based on the contractual
maturities as the management considers that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding
of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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35. @MTR#E)

b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

RBEEER(E)

REERBDESARE - AEBETEH
ERAEBRLEMRABESH R A
BREERARZABRE NEREE
BEZERMBBZRAGERE U
MEARENERMERARDESH
Ke AprRlEBEENSEBERM ki
RARZAERREFERBKE
IRAEE 2 &ERHEES RRIER
EMERPZTE -

TERAAZINAKREFTESRAR
ZHRBANFY - ZRREAEEA
WEFER 2 ZFARRERAEL
AFRBAEREMRE - LBME -
B REREE R RITEFIGT
AR ZHR - TwWRITERTER
FMzBESE - ZREENERESE
REnE - WMABREZNIHME
AERAIRFARSBIRERSE AR
ZHIEE -

AN TRFANAEERER-F
T+ A=tT-HOTESREA
BAEZRBES O - TRIIRE
AUNBBEE ZTETAZARTHRR
ARREEEMRE  AEETES
MIEZRBESAMDHIRESHND
HERE HHRNEEERREH
AMAUREBEITETARSREL
REE+DEE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. &@MIAE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2RMEMRETEBEEREEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEEER(E)
On Total Carrying
Weighted demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 4-6 1-2 23 Over cash at
interest rate months months years years 3years flows 31 December
R+=A
nE  RERIE e =1-A
e 2Zfif  DEAER 33 ot BE=F RERELE ZIEAfE
) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% T#R TEn TER T#7 TER TR TER
2023 - St 3
Non-derivative instruments FiiEIE
Trade and other payables ENSEREbERNTE 6,414,576 - - 26,697 - - 6,441,213 6,441,213
Amounts due to an associate ERBERRZE 418,493 - - - - - 418,493 418,493
Fixed interest rate bank horrowings £ B {T1EH 3N 615,835 122526 226193 52,216 34,424 - 1,051,194 1,043,174
Variable interest rate bank and FEBERRADER
ather borrowings 5.36 3,012,679 969,144 329,906 1,461,618 131,11 - 5,905,058 5,632,262
Lease liabilties HEaE 112 3312 361 726 977 296 - 5,672 5,369
10,464,895 1,092,031 556,825 1,541,508 166,431 - 13821690 13540571
On Total Carrying
Weighted demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 46 7-12 2 Qver cash at
interest rate months months months jears 3 years flows 31 December
®t=A
=+-A
mEAfEA f
HK$'000
T
2022 St -3
Non-derivative instruments HEIR
Trade and other payables ERRERAERNE 6243429 - - 42986 2540 2,083 6,291,008 6,291,008
Consideration payable EfRE 330 - - 635,559 - - - 635,559 615,266
Amounts due to an associate ERBENFZE 528618 - - - - - 528,618 528618
Fixed interest rate bank horrowings £ B {T1EH 407 385,791 124,639 42337 49233 65,169 - 667,169 646,782
Variable interest rate bank and FERMEIRAER
other borrowings 426 2,252,768 1,470,998 1372818 654,944 1,321,240 - 7,072,768 6,618,745
Lease liabilities HEsE 112 28,944 27,957 45,558 46,994 9,605 34 159,092 147,219
9,439,550 1,623,594 2,096,272 794,157 1,398,554 2,087 15,354,214 14,847,688
Derivative — gross settlement 74 — B%£E
Foreign currency forward NERE
—inflow —HA - 51625 - - - - 51,605 5189
—outflow — il - (50,000 - - - - (50,000) (50,000
- 1,625 - - - - 1,625 1,8%
Cross currency swap RNEHES
—inflow N - 50,331 - - - - 50,331 50,594
—outflow =i - (51,624) - - - - (51,624) (51,624)
- (1,293 - - - - 1,293) 1,030)
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

150

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause is
included in the “on demand or 0 to 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. The aggregate
carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$877,393,000 (2022: HK$616,013,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the Directors do
not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank loans
will be repaid within six months (2022: six months) after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:

35. @MTR#E)

b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

RBEEER(E)
E:ﬁhz%:kféia{l RZ|ITERETA
AEROHT RBRATE=EA ]

,B;%EW ZERITEF zﬁﬁﬁf@ﬁ%
877,393,000 T( = & = =

616,014,000/ 7C) © E & wﬁlﬁﬁ
HARR - BEERARIT T RATREITE
BT R ER EERAXE
IRITE RS IL R E 5 & P8 s

FMEPRREBREBEAEA(ZZE==
F R AR)EER  BEFEHINT
=

Maturity Analysis — Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

BHA - RENEBRARRERRERTLBTER

0to3
months

2Z=fA
HK$'000
AT

31 December 2023 CECCEHCAST-B 794,486

46
months

BEAER
HK$'000
AT

100,490

712
months

tE+=fiA
HK$'000

Total

Over3 undiscounted
years cash outflows

R

BB=F RERNLAR REE
Hk$000 HK§'000 HK§'000
TEE AR TER

1-2 2-3
years years

Carrying
amount

-EmE
HK$'000

ZEZE
HK$'000
T

- - - 894,976 877,393

31 December 2022 it S s = 528,652

98,954

627,606 616,013
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

35. @MTR#E)

C.

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and

financial liabilities.

(i)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis

The Group's financial assets at FVTPL, trade and
bills receivables at FVTOCI and derivative financial
instruments are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined.

Financial assets/
financial liabilities

SREE/SRAE

Financial assets at FVTPL — listed
equity shares in Hong Kong

RERNATEEIR REE
—REB L EwkR

Trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI

REMZERENATFEEIRZ
EUEREREREE

Fair value as at

RUTBHZ AT EE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022

—E-=

+=A=1+-H +-A=t+-8
Assets - Assets -
HK$4,220,000 HK$3,689,000
BE - BE—
4,220,000 1T 3,689,000/ T
Assets - Assets -
HK$619,109,000 HK$990,645,000
BE - BE—
619,109,000  990,645,00047T

ERMITACZAVEETE

P SR B R A R Bl 2 T TR
CREERERABZATEEZE
o

(i) BEREEBEULATEEFEZLX
KEEHMEEREMERZAT
&E
RERERR - AEEZNBE
URAFEENRZEREE R
Hip 2 mlsmA R FEEIIRZ
e AR IE M B R B IARST A2
BTANEAFEENE - TX
RERUNEEHEEREER
TRAEBEZATEEZERM -

BX

Fair value Valuation techniques
hierarchy and key inputs
AFEERRGRE REFERIZERAYE

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
active market
1 WNEBTS 2 RE
Level 2 Discounted cash flow method
The key input is market
interest rate.
F2M1 REREMRE
TEGAHBEATSHE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 35. @I R (&)

c. Fair value measurements of financial c. SRIECZAFEEEE)
instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial (i) BREEEEUNFEBEIFEZAR
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EBEsHMEEREMEEZAT
basis (Continued) BlE (&)

Financial assets/ Fair value Valuation techniques
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs
SHEE/SRER RUTBEBZALEE AVEERRGERE REFERIZEBAYE

31 December 31 December

2023

—g—=

—_—=

t=A=1-H

Foreign currency forwards (Note) N/A Assets—-  Level 2 Discounted cash flow method
HK$1,894,000
The key inputs are foreign
exchange spot rates and
forward rates and interest
rate curves.

SN iz E (Pit3E) TER BE— F2B RenERHREA
1,894,000 7T
IRRABBRIMNERSRE
HA) R IA RN 2R g
Cross currency swap (Note) N/A Liabilities-  Level 2 Discounted cash flow method

HK$1,030,000
The key inputs are foreign
exchange spot rates and
forward rates and interest
rate curves.

X EMEE () TER BE— F24 RBeRENRE
1,030,000/ T
TEGABBAIMNERERE
AR A T R 3 o
Note: The discounted cash flow method uses only et : TIRR e REBZEFERAAIERD
observable market inputs. LN ¢
There is no transfer between different levels of RAFERAFEBERBIEHE 2T
the fair value hierarchy for the current year. BlIEPNE R Z:E e
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial

35. @MTR#E)

c. LRMIAZATVEERE#E)

instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

(i) BEREREEULATEENEZLX
SEcHMEEREMARZIAT
BE(E)
R-CB-=ZFR-F-_F1=
A=t—HZAFEEEREE

2023
—Eg-=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14 F24 34 a%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL ~ REHM AT EE
SfR RRERE 4,220 - - 4,220
Trade and bills receivables P E A 2 EUZ A
at FVTOCI NFEBYE
[ENERIE R I = 619,109 - 619,109
4,220 619,109 - 623,329
2022
- S
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
FE11% F2% FE3&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THL THL THL
Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRI A T EEFIE
JEREE 3,689 - - 3,689
Trade and bills receivables  AE 2 E KRN AF
at FVTOCI EBEY R EUERER
EWRE - 990,645 - 990,645
Derivative financial TEERMIA
instruments - 1,894 - 1,894
3,689 992,539 - 996,228
Financial liabilities tREE
Derivative financial THESEMTIA
instruments - 1,030 - -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. &#MIAE)
c. Fair value measurements of financial c. TEMIEZAFEETEE)
instruments (Continued)

(ii)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial (i) WFFEEEEUNTEESE
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a ZAEBEHMEERERAREZ
recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required) NP EER(EEEHATEEERK

&)
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Directors RIE-=FR_R-_T-__F+—
consider that the carrying amounts of all the A=1—H E5RAEREEEE
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at BRMERILBIEXNARTEEZME S
amortised cost in the consolidated financial MEENTREBGEZERAERL
statements approximate their fair values. NEERS -
36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 36. EEHVKIE

The Group as lessor AEBEBEREEA

Rental income with fixed monthly rentals earned from NEBHIZWEWRALE T AR R A

property during the year amounted to HK$19,478,000 (2022: 19,478,000/ 7L ( — & — — 4 : 17,820,000

HK$17,820,000). HIT) °

Certain properties held for rental purposes have committed AETEEERAESR ZEIRKAELHRESD

leases for the next five years. A HE -

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: UTNAERE 7 ZEERHES IR :

2023 2022
—E-=F —E - F

HK$°000 HK$'000
TET TAT

Within one year —FR 7,978 8,203
In the second year WNE—F 5,454 5,608
In the third year RE=F 5,082 5,225
In the fourth year BT F 5,049 5,192
In the fifth year RERF 244 251

23,807 24,479
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37.

38.

39.

COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for but not

37.

HiE

2023
===

—= =

2022
= —

=

HK$'000
TATT

HK$°000
TR

LB YR - BE RRBEATA

provided in the consolidated financial BAREGAPEHRPEEZ

statements in respect of acquisition of BEARLTH

property, plant and equipment 345,819 199,383
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 38. BEFiEFIHEY

All of the Group's Hong Kong employees are required to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. The Group is
required to contribute 5%, while the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their salaries to the scheme to the
maximum of HK$1,500 (2022: HK$1,500) per month for each
employee.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the state-
managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. Total
expense recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in note 11.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

As at 31 December 2022, government grants of
HK$13,545,000 were included in trade and other payables, to
subsidise the acquisition of property, plant and machinery for
scientific research development. The amount has been
treated as deferred income and was transferred to profit or
loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets. This policy
resulted in a credit to profit or loss in the current year of
HK$3,514,000 (2022: HK$2,552,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, incentive
subsidies of HK$48,530,000 (2022: HK$163,538,000) have
been received in the current year to encourage the operations
of the PRC subsidiaries for the development on advance
technology and export sales. The subsidiaries have complied
with application rules of the incentives and, therefore, the
Group recognised the grants in profit or loss.

39.

-%

—=

AEBZ2EEEREBHALINBHIEQTE
T8 REEBIEHS% HZR - MEE IR
BEZTEWER EFMo% 215K B4E
BxEAMAESA16008T( T - =
£ :1,500/87T) °

RIEBEFEAEEENRAD - PEMBARA
AE B R AR NRA T EELAE RN EE
BHME T BO L 2R - NEBEFLEKE
Mt Az EEERAZ BEH AR
Ko NIRRT HER AR SCEM 11 3K EE -

By T ARG

R-Z-—F+-A=+—8 AEERE
ZEHWEYE - BRE RS R REE R
2 BT 8E 13,545,000 7 7T 51 A JE (T BRTE &
HAbERFUE - X BB E WA ARE WAL
ZEBEEERAFHEREELZ - K
REPAFETABEZ S5 53,514,000
BT (ZZE = =% :2,552,000E7C) °

HE-Z-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE &
F 22 U B B2 Ak 48,530,000 7L (= F
© 163,538,00078 L) + LASx B R
BRARMEBERLERMELOMEE - %
EWB AR ETEREB ZEABRL
It AREERIB SR B R -
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40.

41.

156

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Bank

and other
borrowings
RITR
At AE K
HK$'000
THL

40.

Lease

liabilities

BEAE

HK$'000
T

METDRELEARZHIE

TRFVAEERELTSMELRE

B BRASIRSEE - REFTHAE
HFEEDNRENECHBAREEREGNSR
SEFEHINEXRDBRREETHELEY
Eﬁﬁuwi °

Dividend
payable

Interest
payable

Bonds
payable Total
At
HK$'000

Effs  EGRE  EAFR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TR T T

She
BJL

At 1 January 2022 W-Z--%#-Hf-H 6,116,506 300,161 371,99 1,258 23,478 6,813,399
Financing cash flows BERENE (1,787,084) (152,752) (366,096) (328,073) (323,203)  (2,957,208)
Currency realignment HEHE (301,691) (19,621) (19,163) - 4,125 (336,350)
Interest expenses FERZ - 15,938 13,263 - 309,345 338,546
Dividend declared EERRE - - - 328,073 - 328,073
Non-cash transactions (note 41) 3&%*%(%%4 ) 3,237,796 3,553 - - - 3241349
At 31 December 2022 ZE-ZF+tZR=t-H 7265527 147,279 - 1,258 13,745 7,427,809
Financing cash flows mﬂﬁfﬂmi 3,739,590) (63,142) - (316,110)  (385,680)  (4,504,522)
Currency realignment EBRE (83,660) 6,291) - - (144) (90,095)
Interest expenses FERY - 7,007 - - 382,436 389,443
Dividend declared BERRE - - - 316,110 - 316,110
Non-cash transactions (note 41)  JEB &% 5 (Miz41) 3,233,159 (79,484) - - - 3153675
At 31 December 2023 WZE-=F+-F=t—H 6675436 5,369 - 258 10,357 6,692,420

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 41. EXERERH

During the year ended 31 December 2022, short-term HE - Z-_—_#+-_B=+—HIEE ' &

borrowings on bills discounted with recourse of
HK$68,489,000 (2023: Nil) have been settled through bills
receivables discounted to the relevant financial institutions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, bank borrowings
as trust receipt loans of HK$3,233,159,000 (2022:
HK$3,306,285,000) represent the payments to the suppliers
by the relevant banks directly.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, lease liabilities of

HK$82,688,000 (2022: Nil) were settled through rental
deposits paid.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023
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41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets
for new lease agreements entered into by the Group for land
and buildings and plant and machinery with a total amount of
HK$3,204,000 (2022: HK$3,553,000) and the same amount

of lease liabilities were recognised.

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed in note 26 in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transactions

with related parties.

() During the year, the Group entered into the following

transactions with associates.

Nature of transaction

REMHE

Associate
PN

Truly RS Sales

BEACS HE
Purchase
Utility expenses
KEB

41.

42,

Expenses relating to short-term leases

EREHEEZXH

EXFRERH (&)

BHE - Z-=F+-_A=+—HItFE &
BB E R 2 i REF KRB
B K i 2 HE R 4B (E 53,204,000 T (=&
— — 4% :3,5653,000/87C) 2 F AL ERE
EeBEzZHAERE -

RMEALXZS

BB M MRM 26 I RES SN N&E
EHEEEATETATRS -

() FR AEBEEBERFITLATR

% o
2023 2022
—ZT_= —E - F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFETT
230,927 120,808
838,737 1,415,069
22,073 21,757
4,114 4,231

-z
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 42. REANLTRS (&)

(i)~ The remuneration of Directors and other members of iy ANEEEERAMEIZEEREKEZ
key management during the year were as follows: HE R -
2023 2022
—E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Short-term benefits EHAEF 19,678 23,222
Post-employment benefits BERR 2 R A 99 99
19,777 23,321
The remuneration of Directors and key executives are EEZNTETHRAE ZEHM T A H W
determined by the remuneration committee having LZEeLZXE[MARBRETIESBEEE
regard to the performance of individuals and market E o
trends.

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43. FRFEEMBLTEH

OF THE COMPANY
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) HBATIZ—MER
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RREHRARNTEEREEEE
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set MEBATIZEHEBNT -
out below:
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and fully paid Proportion
registration/ ordinary share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
Bl ye ERTRBREEERRE = APREEZ
HEBARABRE B e MEAEE FrE R f TEER
2023 2022
—BC-=f F
I AN NN NN N NN NN N NN N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N )N N N N G N N N N Y YhNhYhNhhh—————————~—~———
Truly Electronics Hong Kong HK$1,000,010 100% 100% Trading of electronic calculators and
electronic components
EHEF B 1,000,010 7T ETHEBRRETINES
Truly Instrument Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Trading of electric tooth brush and
health care products
EHEEERAF Bk 10078 7T EHTRIREARRERE S
Truly Semiconductors Ltd Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% Trading of LCD products
EHFEEERAR B 1,000/87T REBBETRERES
Truly Opto-electronics Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 99.3% 98.9% Trading of compact camera module,
("Truly Opto”) (Note) fingerprint identification modules
and touch panel
EHXEERAFA(EFEE] Bk 1,000,000 7T MABEAR - BAGERIRA R
i BERES
Truly Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$872,894 100% 100% Trading of electronic components
EHIEERAR B 872,894 7T EfnHES
Truly (USA) Inc. United States of US$20,000 100% 100% Marketing of electronic calculators
America
Truly (USA) Inc. EHRERE 20,000%7T B ERTISEH
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued) (a)

43. XLFEERMBLFEH (&)

MEARZ—REM(E)

Name of subsidiary

WEARERE

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
operation

EMAL/
BE/ XY

Nominal value of
issued and fully paid
ordinary share capital/
registered capital
BRTRAREBRRE &
MEAEE

Proportion
ownership interest
held by the Company
AREREZ
PR
2023
k- Sy -

Principal activities

FRER

EAEFERAR" The PRC US$137,500,000 100% 100% Manufacture of electronic calculators
and electronic components

EREFERAR* HE 137,500,000 7T BEEFAHERRETF LI

R ERERAR The PRC US$498,300,000 100% 100% Manufacture of LCD products

R+ EEERAR I 498,300,000 % ¢ NERRRBTRER

EAEECLE) BRARE The PRC US$1,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture of electric toothbrush and
health care products

EHESECLE)BRRA* I 1,000,000 7T RETH TR REAARRER

EARERHERAR The PRC RMB368,769,402 99.3% 98.9% Manufacture of compact camera module,

(“EFIRERS) fingerprint identification modules and

touch panel

EARERHERAR e AR 368,769,402 L SUERMAREA - BEHRIRER

(MEFRERR]) BER

EHIZCLR) RHBERAR The PRC RMB290,000,000 100% 100% Manufacture of electronic component

EMIZCLR) RHBRAR HE AR#290,000,0007C SBEEF i

EARERRATF The PRC RMB200,000,000 99.3% 98.9% Manufacture of electronic component

ETXERRAR I AR 200,000,000 7 REST ol

Truly HZ The PRC RMB2,682,641,157 76.5% 76.5% Development and production of active
matrix organic light emitting diode
and LCD product

EREM HE AR#2,682,641,157 1 REREEBRERERER_BER
RERBTEER

* wholly foreign owned enterprise * INEBE D%

T ZFFR o FERNEBRERAE
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

160

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
acquired 0.4% additional equity interest in Truly Opto from
other shareholders at a cash consideration of RMB20,000
(equivalent to HK$22,000). The effective interest of the
Group in Truly Opto increase from 98.9% to 99.3%. An
amount of HK$18,094,000 (being the proportionate share of
the carrying amount of the net assets of Truly Opto) has
been transferred to other reserves. The difference of
HK$18,072,000 between the consideration paid by the
Group and decrease in non-controlling interests, and the
reattribution of the relevant reserves (including retained
profits of HK$15,332,000 and exchange reserve of
HK$1,160,000) has been debited to other reserves.

The legal forms of the above subsidiaries are all limited
liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the result or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Except for Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited and
Truly (USA) Inc., all other subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company. None of the subsidiaries had issued
any debt securities at the end of the year.
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43. XLFEERMBLFEH (&)

(a) WEARZ—RER (2

Wi #HE_Z-_=+—_A=+—RHILtFE "
REBREMBRRKBEFHE04%
N - B e R E A AR 20,000
JC(HE 722,000/ 7T) - AEERE
FMAEZEEREHBI%EE
99.3% ° 18,094,000 Jt (BN 7| % &
EEREFEZIRLOSGER) B8
BEHMEE AEEAZHZRER
JE 122 % #E 25 U IR 2 2= %8.18,072,000 7
TUARERBEEE2ERBEN
15,332,000 7% 7T K #IEE {7 % 1,160,000
BIT) BB AR -

LA B RARMERL A SBRE
(NG

ERINHEERRIZFEAEEE
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

(b)

ARZHE

TREJNABEAERBER AL
EPFR2EMB AR ZFHIE

43. XLFEERMBLFEH (&)

BREERFEZEREZZHFZENS

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting (Loss)/profit
and principal rights held by non- attributable to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary place of business controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests
AL R R HFERERREL
WEARER TEEENY FEREERATELA  FERERERL(H8R) &7 At ERER
2023 2022 2023 2023 2022
—E-=E —E--F CZEBCZE —E-=E —E-—&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAT THER BT
EHYERS The PRC 0.7% 1.1% (1,618) (3,869) 31,961 52,469
EMEERD i
Truly HZ The PRC 23.5% 23.5% (100,745) 4,837 190,716 298,749
fENEM i
(102,363) 968 222,677 351,218

Summarised financial information in respect of the
above subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

T ZFFR o FERNEBRERAE

B LAk B A AR ERIEERAE
BmZMBERBENOT - THMKE
I ZE REEAN R RIMEHAT 2 S5
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43.

162

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that

have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Truly HZ and its subsidiary

(b)

FLAFEERBATRNEH (2

BREERFEZEREZZHFZENS

REZFHEE)

EREMNEEMBRE

2023
e

— i re—=

HK$°000
FTET

2022
—E - F
HK$'000
TFETT

Current assets MENEE 576,119 662,984
Non-current assets EREBEE 3,541,005 4,006,243
Current liabilities mEaE 3,306,588 3,399,565
Equity attributable to owners RAGHEE NELER

of the Company 619,820 970,913
Non-controlling interests of Truly HZ EFIERM 2 IR iE =S 190,716 298,749
Revenue e 1,270,021 1,627,957
Expenses X 1,698,178 1,607,400
(Loss) profit for the year REE (BER)mH (428,157) 20,557
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

43. XLFEERMBLFEH (&)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests DREIZFHE (E)
(Continued)

Truly HZ and its subsidiary (Continued)

(Loss) profit attributable to owners

EREMREWB AR (&)

RABEA AL (ER) 5

2023

—F— =

—_—

HK$°000
FTET

2022

—E - F

HK$'000
TAT

of the Company (327,412) 15,720
(Loss) profit attributable to the TN AR e 2 PR

non-controlling interests of Truly HZ (E18) &= 7 (100,745) 4,837
(Loss) profit for the year NEEZ (EE) R F (428,157) 20,557
Other comprehensive (expense) income  ARAFEA AEEEMETE

attributable to owners of the Company () Wzt (23,681) 74,361
Other comprehensive (expense) income (= FIZ M EIZ B i 25 FE(S

attributable to the non-controlling Emam (X)W

interests of Truly HZ (7,287) 22,881
Other comprehensive (expense) income  AEFEEM2E (Bx) Wz

for the year (30,968) 97,242
Total comprehensive (expense) income RATIERE AER2E (BX)

attributable to owners of the Company W e 42 5R (351,093) 90,081
Total comprehensive (expense) income {2 FIZ N FE3E AR AE 25 FEAE

attributable to the non-controlling 2 () W E5

interests of Truly HZ (108,032) 27,718
Total comprehensive (expense) income AEEFE2ME (X)) ke

for the year (459,125) 117,799
Net cash inflow from operating activities & ¥ R AJEEE 331,645 717,649
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & EENIR & imHIF5E (2,058) (62,146)
Net cash outflow from financing activities gE& EENIR & H I F5E (311,485) (682,528)
Net cash inflow (outflow) WEMA ORI 558 18,102 (27,025)
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43. XAFIEEMBELATEH &)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests DR ZFHE(E)
(Continued)
S E IR and its subsidiaries BRAERGREMEB LS
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Current assets mENEE 5,083,269 5,458,224
Non-current assets FEREEE 4,975,247 5,506,958
Current liabilities mEaE 5,356,454 6,001,838
Non-current liabilities FEREEE 203,092 109,402
Equity attributable to owners RAEIHEE ANEIE#ER
of the Company 4,467,009 4,801,473
Non-controlling interests of ERERD 2 TR =
ERYeERMD 31,961 52,469
Revenue Wz 10,514,570 13,263,847
Expenses i 10,744,874 13,613,261
Loss for the year KEEBE (230,304) (349,414)
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b)
have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

E X E R and its subsidiaries (Continued)

43. XLFEERMBLFEH (&)

BREERFEZEREZZHFZENS
DA ZFHE(E)

ERAERHREWMELR(F)

2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$°000 HK$'000
F&ET TFETT
Loss attributable to owners KRB)HEA AEILER
of the Company (228,686) (345,545)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling {2 #)3% TRL (70 I A FE 25 B &5 18
interests of 15 | ¢ E% D (1,618) (3,869)
Loss for the year AREEEIE (230,304) (349,414)
Other comprehensive expenses ARARHEANEEEMEEAY
attributable to owners
of the Company (112,739) (257,356)
Other comprehensive expenses EFEE R IEE RS E(L
attributable to the non-controlling =Nl
interests of 15 3¢ EA% D (797) (3,995)
Other comprehensive expenses AFEEMEEAY
for the year (113,536) (261,351)
Total comprehensive expense ARARHEANEEEER Y B
attributable to owners
of the Company (341,425) (602,901)
Total comprehensive expense EFEE R IEIE R S (L
attributable to the non-controlling 2R B
interests of 15 3¢ E% 0 (2,415) (7,864)
Total comprehensive expense REFEELEM LB
for the year (343,840) (610,765)
Net cash inflow from operating BRI S RATFEE
activities 558,299 1,863,922
Net cash outflow from A EEIR SRR
investing activities (753,567) (461,370)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from MEEEIRERACGELE) F5E
financing activities 234,191 (1,763,590)
Net cash inflow (outflow) RERACRL) FEE 38,923 (361,038)

TE=FER

o ENEIMRARARA
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44. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group's borrowings had been secured by the pledge of
the Group’'s assets and the carrying amounts of the
respective assets are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment

4. BEEH

AEBENERENAEENEELTIELE
o REENKREEDOT

2023
—rne=

— ==

2022
—E - F
HK$'000
TFETT

- 536,959

HK$°000
TET

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$5,369,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$42,541,000 as at 31
December, 2023 (2022: lease liabilities of HK$147,279,000
and related right-of-use assets of HK$331,023,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes. Furthermore, bills issued by
third parties endorsed with recourse for settlement of
payables for suppliers of the Group is disclosed in note 24.

BERS

N RZZEZ=F+=A=+—H &R
A& A &5,369,000/8 7 - HEAFEREEE
42,541,000 t(ZE-——F: HEBE
147,279,000 7t X HH B = A # & &
331,023,000/ 7) - BRHAAFENHES
ERMERERIN HERETEIMEAE
Ry BEREEELEETNSHAREEE
Reltdh HEZHEITEEEHRERE
EEAREBEMHEREAFIAENZERS RN
24 F5FE o

45. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 45. BREMEE
The following were the Group's bills receivables as at 31 UNTARNERR - E-_=F8 T - —
December 2023 and 2022 that were either discounted to TZA=+T—BRERITREEEREERR
banks on a full recourse basis or endorsed to suppliers for SBETHRERNEEE BT RIE B
settlement of trade payables. =yE o
2023 2022
—E-=F —E - 4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx THET
Carrying amount of endorsed EEERKER ZE®EE (M)
bills receivables (Note) 464,021 519,544
Carrying amount of associated liabilities HEBEZEREEAE (464,021) (519,544)
Net position FR = -
Note: Certain bills receivables were endorsed to suppliers for settlement Misr: EFREKEECOSETMHEN  AREEZS
of trade payables. As the Group has not transferred the significant FE(FE0E o (RRAANE @Y EE S L E SIS
risks and rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to W7 EBARE S RO - SRR EN B
recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables and the ZARHEEE BRENE S ENFRIEY KK
corresponding trade payables were not derecognised. These HFER o ZZE S MAERNER Y 548 TR
financial assets were carried at FVTOCI in the Group's consolidated MFIENE A 2 E U AR FEBEYEREETTS
statement of financial position. AR o
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 46. FRTF)|Z MG TR iR
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the MNBEHREEAA RIS AR ZEEE
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: ¥

2023 2022
—E_= —E -
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFETT

Non-current Assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RRB AR ZIRE 499,033 499,033
Amount due from a subsidiary FEUHI B A B 5TE 881,021 1,159,233
1,380,054 1,658,266

Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables H b pE U I8 525 489
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEEE 4,431 5174
4,956 5,663
Current Liability REBAE

Other payables H At FET IR 2,019 2,088
Net Current Assets REBEEFE 2,937 3,575
Net Assets EEEE 1,382,991 1,661,841

Capital and Reserves ERRFEE
Share capital i 63,222 63,222
Reserves e 1,319,769 1,598,619
Total Equity EREAE 1,382,991 1,661,841
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 46. ELFIZHMBERARR IR ()
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement of the Company’s reserves EARNREESR
Capital
Share Special redemption Retained
premium* reserve’ reserve profits Total
R EE* WRlRE* EXREEE RE R &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FE FE FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZ-_—_F—H—H 1,395,441 17,410 867 644,389 2,058,107
Profit and other AEERAREM
comprehensive income  2E U
for the year - - - 53,463 53,463
Share repurchase ARl (184,878) - - - (184,878)
Dividend declared EEREE - - - (328,073) (328,073)
At 31 December 2022 RZE_Z
+-A=+—-H 1,210,563 17,410 867 369,779 1,598,619
Profit and other AEERAREM
comprehensive income 2 HE U
for the year - - - 37,260 37,260
Dividend declared EERRE - - - (316,110) (316,110)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+-A=+-H 1,210,563 17,410 867 90,929 1,319,769
* Under the applicable laws of Cayman Islands, the share premium BIERSHEE ZERED  NATZRNEE

of the Company is available for distributions or paying dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or
Articles of Association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or paying dividend the Company is able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

# The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the
Company's subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the
nominal amount of the Company's shares issued for the
acquisitions in prior years.
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